
Date Published: 3 May 2019     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 14 May 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Election of Chairperson Andrea Clarke

2  Election of Vice Chairperson Chairperson

3  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

4  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

5  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

6  Public Questions 

To answer any written or oral questions about matters which are within the 
powers and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 7 May 
2019. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairperson

7  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 7 May 2019. Please send questions to the Chief 
Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairperson

8  Social Isolation deep dive (Pages 7 - 36) Mary Hutton, 
Emma Savage

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

9  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (Pages 37 - 58) Zoe Clifford

10  Air quality strategy (Pages 59 - 80) Dave 
McConalogue

INFORMATION ITEM

11  New strategies and plans 

The Director of Public Health to give a verbal update on current work.

Sarah Scott

Membership – Ingrid Barker (Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust and 2Gether NHS 
Foundation Trust), Wayne Bowcock (Chief Fire Officer), Chris Brierley (Representing Police and 
Crime Commissioner), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), 
Peter Lachecki (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), Bob Lloyd-Smith (Healthwatch 
Gloucestershire), ACC Julian Moss (Representing Chief Constable), Rachel Pearce (NHS 
England), Pat Pratley (District Chief Executive (Housing Link)), Dr Hein Le Roux (Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group), Sarah Scott (Director of Public Health), Dr Andy Seymour 
(Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer (Director of Children's Services), 
Cllr Jennie Watkins (District Representative) and Margaret Willcox OBE (Director of Adult Services) 
Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Kathy Williams and Cllr Roger Wilson (Chairman)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 19 
March 2019 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Wayne Bowcock
Cllr Richard Boyles
Chris Brierley
Cllr Tim Harman
Mary Hutton
Bob Lloyd-Smith

ACC Julian Moss
Pat Pratley
Dr Hein Le Roux
Sarah Scott
Cllr Roger Wilson (Chairman)

Substitutes: Anne Brinkhoff (In place of Cllr Jennie Watkins)
Andy Dempsey (In place of Chris Spencer)
Marcia Gallagher (In place of Ingrid Barker)

Officers in attendance: Zoe Clifford - Consultant in Public Health
Helen Ford - Integrated Care System Lead for Children’s Mental 
Health and Maternity
Helen Goodey - Director of Primary Care and Locality Development

Apologies: Peter Lachecki, Dr Andy Seymour, Margaret Willcox OBE and Cllr Kathy Williams

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday 6 November 2019 were agreed as a correct and 
signed by the Chairman.

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions had been received.

4. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No member questions had been received.

5. JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY UPDATE - PRIORITY SCOPE 
5.1 Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health, presented the report which captured the outcome 

of the discussion, and the recommendations from the Board’s development session on 22 
January 2019. It had been clear from the development meeting that it was important that 
the Board did not duplicate work already in place but that the focus must be on where the 
Board could add value.

5.2 It was noted that the report did not reference private sector housing, and acknowledged 
that this aspect had been difficult to scope out and required further work. Pat Pratley, 
District Council CEO (Housing Link) offered to make contact with the housing officer in 
Cheltenham to support this aspect.
ACTION: Pat Pratley

5.3 It was noted that transport was a key factor, particularly in the rural areas – how could we 
ensure that people could access services? It was explained that transport had been on the 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

initial priority list. Transport was integral to everything; transport issues were therefore an 
underlying factor in all priorities. 

5.4 The Board agreed to have the ‘housing’ priority and the ‘early years/best start’ priority as 
development sessions for the Board in the future to better understand where it could add 
value.

5.5 It was agreed that it was important to be aware that just because something was not 
specifically identified as a priority it did not mean that the Board was not working in this 
area through other avenues. 

5.6 Bob Lloyd Smith, Healthwatch Gloucestershire (HWG), informed the Board that HWG was 
about to embark on its ‘Campervan and Comments Tour 2019’ to gather information about 
people’s experiences of health and social care in Gloucestershire. It was agreed that the 
information from the tour could inform the Board’s work. 
ACTION: Healthwatch Gloucestershire 

5.7 In response to a question Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and Strategy (Children), 
was not able to inform the Board as to the current status of the Children’s Partnership 
Framework following the consultation in 2018. It was agreed that an update would be 
provided.
ACTION: Andy Dempsey

5.8 The Board was informed that the new safeguarding children arrangements should be 
published in April 2019. 

5.9 It was noted that there was no overall lead for the Early Years priority. Andy Dempsey 
agreed to discuss this with the Director of Children’s Services.
ACTION: Andy Dempsey

2.10 In conclusion the Board agreed:-
 The scope for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) priorities,
 That the healthy lifestyles priority in the JHWS has a focus on heathy weight 

initially,
 To further scoping of the housing priority to identify where the Health and Wellbeing 

Board could add value,
 To further scoping of the early years priority to identify where the Health and 

Wellbeing Board could add value,
 That the social isolation deep dive be received at the next meeting of the Health 

and Well Being Board to provide a better understanding of this priority.

6. GLOUCESTERSHIRE MOVES 
6.1 Deborah Potts, Chief Executive Active Gloucestershire, gave a detailed presentation on the 

Gloucestershire Moves (GM) initiative, discussing the aims and objectives, the expected 
outcomes, the evaluation framework and the analysis and learning that underpinned the 
design and structure of the service. (The presentation was included in the agenda pack.)

6.2 The Board welcomed this approach and agreed that the best way to promote change was 
through social movements and had the ability to achieve great things for the people of 
Gloucestershire. 

6.3 In response to questions the Board was informed that GM worked closely with the VCS 
Alliance; and was promoting its work as widely as possible.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

6.4 The Board agreed that Gloucestershire Moves was best placed to be the delivery vehicle 
for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy physical activity priority.

7. ACES (ADVERSE CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCES) UPDATE 
7.1 The Director of Public Health (DPH) informed the Board that each year the Faculty of 

Public Health asked for nominations for Honorary Membership. This year the DPH had 
nominated ACC Julian Moss for his work in leading the Averse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) agenda in Gloucestershire. The DPH was pleased to inform the Board that the 
Faculty had accepted the nomination. The Board congratulated ACC Moss and agreed that 
this award was very deserved given his strong leadership on and commitment to this work.

7.2 ACC Moss explained that the ACEs Panel had established an education sub group given 
that this was a key sector. Kevin Day, Headteacher Belmont School, was leading this work. 
This sub group was linking in with the Mental Health Trailblazer Programme which was 
about providing additional support through schools and colleges and reducing waiting times 
for colleges. It was hoped that this work would leave a legacy for schools in 
Gloucestershire. 

7.3 The Resilience documentary had also been screened at various locations throughout the 
county. Each session had brought something different to the fore; and education 
professionals had wanted to learn more about how they could use an ACEs informed 
approach at the local level. The Board were informed that the quote from the documentary 
‘if you can get the science in the hands of the general population they will invent very wise 
actions’ has become something of a mantra for the ACEs Panel.

7.4 Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and Strategy (Children), informed the Board that 
he was one of the council representatives on the Safer Gloucestershire Partnership, that 
this partnership was working to embed a trauma informed approach; and that the impact on 
ACEs on the individual could be seen across the criminal justice system. He also indicated 
that he would like to be involved in the work to progress Objective 5: Distribution of ACEs.
ACTION: Andy Dempsey

7.5 With regard to Objective 7: Evaluation ACC Moss informed the Board that there a debate at 
the national level on this issue. The ACEs Panel would be linking into work being 
undertaken on this aspect by Public Health England.

7.6 The Board were pleased to note that questions relating to ACEs had been included in the 
most recent Online Pupil Survey. This could provide useful data and a valuable insight into 
this issue.

7.7 The Board agreed to:
 Note the progress being made in implementing the ACEs strategy, and
 To provide visible leadership to support the ongoing implementation of the ACEs 

Strategy across Gloucestershire by acting as ACEs Champions, and to release staff 
to enable them to do the same.

8. FUTURE IN MIND TRANSFORMATION PLAN UPDATE 
8.1 Helen Ford, Integrated Care System Lead for Children’s Mental Health and Maternity, 

brought the Board up to date with the progress of Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind 5 Year 
Transformation Plan.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

8.2 The Board were particularly interested in the progress of the Mental Health Trailblazer 
Programme. It was explained that the establishment of the teams utilised the learning from 
the Stroud Schools Project which had demonstrated that working on a locality basis got the 
best from the local community. Teams would be based in the Forest of Dean district, 
Cheltenham and two would be based in Gloucester. The Council’s Education team had 
advised on which schools could be best placed to participate with this programme. The 
teams were currently undergoing training. 

8.3 Board members were informed that this programme aimed to intervene early when needs 
were just emerging, and would work with parents as well. This work required strong 
partnership work, for example, linking to Restorative Practice, culture and arts programmes 
in the county, and the specialised services. There was a clear drive to look at how things 
could be done differently, and become embedded into both school and home.

8.4 The Board agreed that this was a unique opportunity for Gloucestershire, and that it would 
be important that it considered where it could add most value. 
ACTION: Board Members

8.5 In response to questions it was explained that the Trailblazer would be evaluated at both 
the local and national level. Data, in particular how to use it effectively, was a key factor. 
The Director of Public Health explained that as part of the Integrated Care System (ICS) 
work was in place to look at how to improve data intelligence and data could be used more 
strategically across the system. 

9. INTEGRATED LOCALITY PARTNERSHIPS 
9.1 Helen Goodey, Director of Primary Care and Locality Development, explained that GP 

clusters have been in place for a number of years, but have now been restructured as 
Integrated Locality Partnerships (ILP). The underlying drivers were the NHS Long Term 
Plan and the agreement between the BMA and NHS England ‘Investment and Evolution: A 
five year contract for GP contract reform to implement the NHS Long Term Plan’. 

9.2 ILPs had been piloted in Cheltenham, Tewkesbury and the Forest of Dean since April 
2018. This had involved an aggregation of services including GPs, community services, 
and mental health services. District councils played a key role and their support in taking 
this agenda was commended. Emma Keating Clark, Health and Wellbeing Coordinator 
Stroud District Council, informed Board members about the projects in Stroud that have 
been in place for some time and were working well; and the significant role of the district 
council. 

9.3 Board members agreed that this was about trying to achieve a more sustainable approach 
to health and care in Gloucestershire; how best to use the Gloucestershire pound. 

9.4 Dr Hein le Roux, Deputy Clinical Chair Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, 
informed the Board that as a GP he felt that ILPs have huge potential in terms of population 
health and improved resilience. 

10. NHS LONG TERM PLAN - UPDATE 
10.1 Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG), 

gave a detailed presentation on the Long Term Plan (LTP). (The presentation slides were 
included in the agenda pack.) She explained that the LTP was consistent with what was 
already in place/planned in Gloucestershire. This was very much about partnership 
working. It was important to ensure that people understood what was trying to be achieved 
in Gloucestershire. It was also important that people recognised that they have 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

responsibilities too, eg. to take greater control of their own and their families health, and to 
take a more preventative approach to their health.

10.2 As with other matters discussed today the Board agreed that the strategic and efficient use 
of data would be a key factor underpinning this work. It was also agreed that it would be 
important to ensure that there was a common language across all partners, and that there 
was synergy within and across strategies. Board members agreed that health inequalities 
must be a significant driver. The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy was the main strategy 
in addressing health inequalities and this was where the Board could add value to this 
work. 

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.00

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Deep Dive into Social Isolation and Loneliness 

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information 

Sponsor Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer, Gloucestershire CCG
Chris Brierley, Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner 

Author Emma Savage, Associate Director Self Care, Prevention and 
Diabetes, Gloucestershire CCG

Organisation NHS Gloucestershire CCG

Key Issues:  

We know that loneliness can affect anyone – from teenagers and young adults 
to new parents, carers, and the recently bereaved, from students starting 
university to older people and those with disabilities, from those moving to a 
new area of the country to refugees.

Loneliness and isolation is not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as 
‘an objective state determined by the quantity of social relationships and 
contacts between individuals, across groups and communities.’ Meanwhile 
loneliness is defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional 
perception of the number and/or quality of social connections they need 
compared to what is currently being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for 
an individual to be socially isolated without feeling lonely, or conversely feel 
lonely without being socially isolated. 

The ambition is to reduce social isolation and loneliness, and enable local 
people to take an active role in building and nurturing strong social networks 
and vibrant communities.

The Enabling Active Communities Group, in conjunction with Safer 
Gloucestershire Board, has undertaken a deep dive with a number of 
structured interviews with a wide cross section of individuals, community 
groups, voluntary and statutory organisations across the county. Based on the 
feedback received to date, the approach to tackling social isolation and 
loneliness can be grouped into the following areas of focus:

 Create face-to-face opportunities for people to network, including 
intergenerational opportunities 

 Recognise and optimise on the importance of friends, family and 
partners 

 Support/empower vulnerable people to join social groups, initially 
through 1:1 support 

 Encouraging people to make the time to get to know their neighbours 
through the creation of community events and welcome packs for new 
people moving into the area 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



 Make more use of the resources around us i.e. spaces and benches
 Active design for new housing developments

Recommendations to Board: 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to comment on the draft Social 
Isolation and Loneliness Deep Dive. 

The Board are specifically asked some questions:

 Does this deep dive cover the key issues regarding social isolation and 
loneliness? 

 What is missing from this deep dive?  
 Are there any other groups, communities or areas of focus that the 

HWB would like to include in this deep dive? 
 Would the HWB like to see a strategy or action plan on social isolation 

and loneliness that could form part of the HWB Strategy? 
 What are the next steps the HWB would like to see happen regarding 

social isolation and loneliness?

Financial/Resource Implications: 

None identified as yet 

Page 8



1

Deep Dive
Social Isolation & 

Loneliness
2019

#loneliness 

Second Draft: 1st May 2019

Page 9



2

Foreword

The relationships we have with our friends, family, neighbours and colleagues are, 
for many of us, the most important things in our lives. There is a strong link between 
having meaningful social connections and living a healthy and successful life. We 
also know that having more connected communities means a more thriving, 
productive society, in which we can all contribute and live fulfilling lives. 

Loneliness and isolation is not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an 
objective state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts 
between individuals, across groups and communities.’ Meanwhile loneliness is 
defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional perception of the 
number and/or quality of social connections they need compared to what is currently 
being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be socially isolated 
without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being socially isolated.

We know that loneliness can affect anyone – from teenagers and young adults to 
new parents, carers, and the recently bereaved, from students starting university to 
older people and those with disabilities, from those moving to a new area of the 
country to refugees. 

Loneliness isn’t new but the way our society works is changing rapidly. We have new 
ways of connecting and communicating with each other where it is now possible to 
spend a day working, shopping, travelling, interacting with business without seeing 
or speaking to another human being. This can be repeated day after day. We need 
to plan for connection and create moments of human contact. 

Loneliness and social isolation is one of the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. They requested this ‘deep dive’ to be able to describe what we can do as a 
county to create more connected friendships, neighbourhoods, communities and 
workplaces.

The Enabling Activity Communities Group and Safer Gloucestershire Board, through 
this deep dive, have started to open up a conversation on loneliness and social 
isolation, to raise awareness of its impacts and describe practically what we can do 
as a county to improve our overall wellbeing. Undertaking this deep dive was a good 
fit in using a PLACE based approach, and built on the work already being 
undertaken by each of the District Councils to Strengthen Local Communities.

This deep dive into social isolation and loneliness will form one of the seven priorities 
within the Health & Wellbeing Strategy which is due to be published in May 2019. 

Page 10



3

Contents 

1. Background 
The focus of Gloucestershire
Life events that can make us feel lonely and their preventative measures
Factors that contribute towards social isolation and loneliness 

2. Social Isolation and Loneliness in Gloucestershire 
Age, living alone, deprivation and frailty 
What does success look like in tackling social isolation and loneliness? 

3. Learning from the evidence base (national and international) 
Children and Young People
Adults and Older People 

4. Our Approach
Key themes from the deep dive

5. Key Priorities 
Personal Preference 
Family, Friends and Partners
Rurality and getting to know your neighbours
Sustainable communities
Transport
Environment

6. Recommendation and Next Steps 

Page 11



4

1. Background

Gloucestershire recognises that everyone feels lonely from time to time. But when 
people are always lonely they are likely to suffer significant ill health and other 
negative consequences. 

Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) reviewed the comprehensive 
document ‘A Connected Society – A Strategy for Tackling Loneliness’(1) which 
published the work started by the MP late Jo Cox at their November 2018 meeting. 
On recognition of this important issue, the HWB requested a ‘deep dive’ on social 
isolation and loneliness. A deep dive gives an opportunity to look in detail at the 
factors affecting people experiences and service’s perceptions of social isolation and 
loneliness and the HWB’s approach to improving this. 

Section 1 of this deep dive provides a summary of the causal factors for feeling 
socially isolated or lonely, these are mostly based on the recent analysis completed 
by the Office of National Statistics in 2018. 

Section 2 sets out what information we know about Gloucestershire’s population, 
the factors affecting social isolation and loneliness and those areas which will need 
greater focus by the HWB. 

Section 3 describes what we can learn from the evidence base including projects we 
are already undertaking in Gloucestershire which have been subject to an 
independent review. This section also looks at opportunities to learn from both 
national and the international evidence base. 

Section 4 sets out the key themes from the deep dive having worked with 
individuals, District Councils, Gloucestershire County Council, the CCG, community 
and voluntary groups all of whom have contributed towards the suggested priorities 
within Section 5. 

Section 6 is seeking feedback from the HWB on the content of this deep dive, 
highlighting areas that may be missing and suggested next steps. 

Loneliness can affect anyone of any age and background – from an older person 
mourning the loss of a life partner to a young person who feels different and isolated 
from their friends. Across our communities there are people who can go for days, 
weeks or even a month without seeing a friend or family member. 

The loss of social contact can be damaging to our humanity and to the health and 
wellbeing of everyone affected. Research shows that loneliness is as damaging to 
our physical health as smoking (Holt-Lunstad at al, 2015) (2). 

One of the key challenges to wellbeing is loneliness. Loneliness has been largely 
seen as problem in older age. Loneliness can be a factor that can compromise 

Page 12



5

wellbeing across the child, young person and adult life course rather than being 
defined to old age/older adults. 

Loneliness and social isolation are experiences that most of us will encounter at 
some point in our lives either as a momentary experience or a more protracted 
experience resulting from the loss of a parent or friend. 

For these reasons emphasis is placed within this deep dive on the importance of 
strong communities and assets that we can create or develop to help combat social 
isolation and loneliness. The work with neighbourhoods, communities and District 
Councils is integral to this. 

Definition of loneliness 

Loneliness is a gap between actual and desired social relationships. These 
deficiencies can be in terms of either the quality or quality of relationships. 
(Peplau and Perlman, 1981) (3)

Loneliness and isolation are not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an 
objective state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts 
between individuals, across groups and communities.’ Meanwhile loneliness is 
defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional perception of the 
number and/or quality of social connections they need compared to what is currently 
being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be socially isolated 
without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being socially isolated.

The factors that contribute towards social isolation and loneliness 

To tackle social isolation and loneliness successfully, we need a deeper 
understanding of who is at highest risk and what is effective in preventing and 
reducing it. Below is a summary of the findings from the Office for National Statistics 
(ONS) in 2018 (4) where members of the public were asked following questions:

 How often do you feel lonely?
 How often do you feel that you lack companionship?
 How often do you feel left out? 
 How often do you feel isolated from others? 

In 2016 to 2017, there were 5% of all adults (aged 16 years and over) in England 
who reported feeling lonely “often” or “always”. That is 1 in 20 adults. Furthermore, 
16% of adults report feeling lonely sometimes and 24% occasionally. 

What can be concluded from the chart overleaf is that women are more likely to feel 
lonely often or always than men. 

Page 13



6

Figure 1. Reported frequency of loneliness by sex 

England 

Ref: ONS, April 2018 link

Children and Young People 

There can be predictable transition points that can challenge social networks for a 
child or young person. These can include moving school, exam pressures, moving 
away from home or starting work.  

There can be other education-related challenges that may trigger loneliness which 
can include putting children into academic, sporting ability groups or choosing teams. 
The stigma associated with free school meals has also been reported as a 
contributory factor to social isolation, as well as school punishment practices 
involving separation, isolation or exclusion.

Other events that can contribute to loneliness are being bullied, loss of significant 
relationships (bereavement, moving house or school, relationship breakdown, 
practical barriers to social participation including disability. 

It was reported that those aged 16 to 24 years were significantly more likely to report 
feeling lonely “often/always”. 

Adults and the Older Person 

People who are widowed were significantly more likely to report feeling lonely ‘some 
of the time’. By contrast people who were married or in civil partnerships were 

Page 14

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10


7

significantly less likely to report experiencing loneliness “often/always” or 
“occasionally”. 

Those who reported their general health to be “very bad” or “bad” were significantly 
more likely to report feeling lonely “often/always” and significantly less likely to say 
they “hardly ever” fet lonely compared to other groups. 

Those who reported having a long-term illness or disability were significantly more 
likely to report feeling lonely “often/always” and “some of the time”. 

People who were unemployed (and seeking work) were significantly more likely to 
report loneliness “often/always” than those in employment or self-employment. 

People who were not living as part of a couple were significantly more likely to report 
experiencing loneliness “often/always”, “some of the time” or “occasionally” than 
those who reported living as part of a couple. 

People who live alone were at greater risk of feeling lonely more often. Those living 
alone were significantly more likely to report loneliness “often/always” and “some of 
the time” whilst those living with others were significantly more likely to report “hardly 
ever” or “never” feeling lonely. 

Those who rent their property were significantly more likely to report loneliness 
“often/always” and “some of the time” than those who own their home. Homeowner 
households tend to have greater financial wealth with an average annual household 
income greater for those in owner occupied homes than those in rented homes. 
Hence, it may not be housing tenure in itself that is associated with how often people 
feel lonely but financial security.

Those who feel a sense of belonging to their neighbourhood “not very strongly” or 
“not at all strongly” were significantly more likely than those with a stronger sense of 
belonging to report experiencing loneliness “often/always”. This suggests those who 
feel they belong to their neighbourhood less strongly are at greater risk of loneliness.

Those who report being “neither satisfied nor dissatisfied” or “fairly/very dissatisfied” 
with their local area as a place to live were significantly more likely to report feeling 
lonely “often/always”. 

In summary and based on extensive research by the ONS, the following contributory 
factors can be associated with social isolation and loneliness:

 Age
 Sex
 Marital status
 Respondent and partners’ (if applicable) gross income
 Disability status 
 General health 

Page 15



8

 Number of adults in the household
 Caring responsibilities
 Whether people chat to neighbours more than to just say hello
 Feeling as though you belong to a neighbourhood
 Satisfaction with your local area as a place to live
 The number of years lived in a local neighbourhood
 How often you meet up in person with family members or friends

Page 16



9

2. Social Isolation and Loneliness in Gloucestershire

According to the Gloucestershire Community Wellbeing Survey in 2017, 1 in 2 adult 
social care users in Gloucestershire reported to have as much social contact as they 
would like.

Over a quarter (28.5%) of adult carers in Gloucestershire said they have as much 
social contact as they would like.

The survey also identified that 38% of all respondents feel lonely at times, and 
loneliness is highest in those with a mental health issue, a long term illness and/or a 
learning disability. Those with a car as their main form of transport considered 
themselves less lonely’. However, please note, this was based on a small sample of 
606 respondents. 

Taking into consideration the contributory factors leading to social isolation and 
loneliness highlighted in Section 1, below is some of the data available on 
Gloucestershire residents on age, adults living in single households, those with 
access to internet access, deprivation and frailty. 

Age can be a contributory factor to social isolation and loneliness. Below is a map of 
Gloucestershire highlighting the following areas as having a higher incidence on 
people aged over 65 years (Figure 2):

 Cheltenham (part of)
 Chipping Campden
 Dursley
 Fairford
 Lechlade 
 Painswick
 Winchcombe 
 Wotton-under-Edge 

Overleaf is a map (Figure 3) which shows by Local Super Output Area (LSOA) the 
proportion of people who are aged 65+ and living alone. It seems to shows highest 
rates in towns in the:

 North Cotswold (Stow, Moreton, and Bourton)
 Parts of a few Stroud towns and villages
 Coleford
 Sporadic neighbourhoods in Gloucester and Cheltenham (e.g. the retirement 

flats village behind B and Q in Gloucester).

Page 17



10

Figure 2: Population aged 65+ by Ward

Figure 3: Proportion of population aged 65+ and living alone 

Page 18



11

Whilst deprivation (Figure 4) doesn’t have a direct contributory factor to social 
isolation and loneliness, it is known that satisfaction with your local area as a place 
to live and living in rental accommodations are factors. The following areas are areas 
highlighted areas being more deprived within Gloucestershire:

 Cinderford 
 Gloucester City
 West Cheltenham 

Figure 4: Indices of deprivation in Gloucestershire 

Poor health and disability are recognised contributory factors to social isolation and 
loneliness. Below is a map of Gloucestershire showing those areas where 6% or 
more of the adult population are frail (Figure 5). Please note that frailty is not always 
associated with older age. These areas include:

 Brockworth
 Chipping Campden
 Churchdown
 Gloucester 
 Lydney
 Mitcheldean
 Moreton-in-Marsh
 Tetbury 
 Tewkesbury

Page 19



12

Figure 5: Frailty by Ward and GP Practice 

Whilst use of the internet, mobile phone and social media are seen as ways to 
reduce social isolation and loneliness, particularly for those who live rurally or are 
older with families and friends living a long distance, they can also be contributory 
factors i.e. excessive use of social media with little human contact. This has been 
well reported as a casual factor of loneliness amongst children and young people. 

Overleaf is a map (Figure 6), although now quite old, shows the likelihood of having 
a mobile phone with internet access. The LSOAs where people are most likely to 
have a phone with access to the internet are located in Cheltenham, Gloucester and 
Tewkesbury.

Page 20



13

Figure 6: Likelihood of having a mobile phone with internet access by LSOA

In summary, these maps show there is no correlation between age and deprivation 
but there is some direct correlation between age and frailty in some parts of 
Gloucestershire. This will help to focus our efforts into preventing social isolation and 
loneliness within Gloucestershire for those who are older and have poor health 
and/or a disability. 

We can also use these maps to identify areas where there are a higher proportion of 
older and younger people with no or little access to the internet to look at creative 
ways for people, particularly those living rurally can feel more engaged with what is 
happening with their friends, family and community. 

Page 21



14

3. Learning from the evidence base (local, national and international)

Social Isolation and Loneliness has received a high profile within the last year 
following the publication of the National Strategy for Tackling Social Isolation in 2018 
(1) and was based on the work started by the late MP Jo Cox. Within this strategy it 
lays out the foundations for change at a national level. In this section of the deep 
dive, it will bring in the learning from this national report as well and using some 
illustrative local examples from across Gloucestershire. 

Gloucestershire has some excellent examples of what it is already doing to prevent 
and reduce the impact of social isolation and loneliness. These local examples will 
be illustrated within this section of the report. 

Children and Young People 

Children and young people express that avoiding loneliness is important to them, but 
they differ in the amount of time they want to spend with others and in their 
expectations of what “good” relationships with others look like. Approaches to 
avoiding loneliness are reflected in these individual differences.

Additionally, we start from different places in the ease with which we form friendships 
and make connections with others. This may involve overcoming:

 Individual emotional or mental hurdles: such as shyness, introversion, or 
mental health challenges

 Practical hurdles: such as accessibility issues linked to mobility or sensory 
impairments, transport and money for joining in activities

 Social hurdles: linked to acceptance by others and “fitting in”, which may 
relate to perceived differences from others (such as social, cultural, ethnic and 
other visible or presumed differences as well as the issues noted previously 
as emotional or mental hurdles and practical hurdles)

These different starting points mean that young people shape their individual 
approaches to avoiding loneliness, based on their own current situation, past 
experiences of relationships and loneliness, and their ideas of what “good” or “good 
enough” relationships entail. They also vary in the amount of time it may take them 
to form relationships.

Specific approaches to avoid becoming lonely involve familiar methods of making 
and sustaining social connections, including:

 Use of social media to maintain connections and develop new ones

 Joining in sports, clubs and activities

Page 22



15

 Purposefully reaching out, talking to people and nurturing relationships

 Finding ways to overcome hurdles to connecting (for example, offering lifts to 
people who otherwise could not join in, hanging around with a group to try to 
make new connections)

Gloucestershire has undertaken and continues to work on a number of initiatives 
which specifically support children with health conditions, mental health issues and 
disabilities, all of which are recognised contributory factors to social isolation and 
loneliness. 

Adults and Older People 

Public services and organisations (including VCSE organisations) have a vital role to 
play in helping people to secure the support they need. There are opportunities for 
services and organisations to connect people to help them improve their social 
wellbeing. 

Below are some examples of initiatives that we are undertaking in Gloucestershire, 
those from elsewhere in the country and also examples from Europe. 

Case Study – Children with hemiplegia and use of magic tricks 

Breathe Magic Intensive Therapy programme was an Easter Camp in 2019 for local 
people and young people aged between 7 and 18 affected by hemiplegia and 
quadriplegia. Seven local children have been involved in the first phase of the 
programme which uses specially chosen magic tricks to help children with their 
conditions.

Taught by professional Magic Circle magicians and occupational therapists, the 
programme offers 60 hours of therapy over a 10 day camp, where Breathe combine 
the learning of carefully chosen magic tricks with a focus on everyday activities such 
as cutting up food, or crafts.  

The aim is to significantly improve the young peoples’ hand function, social interaction, 
confidence and independence over the course of the programme – and it works.

The camp started in Gloucestershire on 8 April and culminated in a special Magic 
Show involving the young people on 18 April at the Parabola Arts Centre, Cheltenham.

There are just over 100 children with hemiplegia and quadriplegia in Gloucestershire 
and one of the reported benefits of this programme was for children and young people 
to be able to meet each other with similar experiences. 

Page 23



16

Social Prescribing 

Social Prescribing is helping to address a range of social, economic and 
environmental factors that can have an impact on people’s health. Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group and Gloucestershire County Council have invested in 
a Community Wellbeing Service (CWS) which is run by a range of locally based 
providers. We know at that least 50% of the referrals to CWS are related to social 
isolation and loneliness. Examples of where the CWS has made a difference to 
people’s lives is by introducing people to community groups, services and support 
within their local area. 

Case Study – Community Wellbeing Service (Stroud)

36 year old lady referred to the service by her GP. She presented to GP after having 
split up with her partner which had resulted in her experiencing anxiety and Social 
Isolation.

She had also been signed off work due to her anxiety which was adding to her Social 
Isolation. She was subsequently assessed by one of the Community Wellbeing Agents 
(CWA) and it was established very quickly that she had strengths and talents around 
creativity. She felt that if she could get involved in a group around Art that it would help 
with her anxiety and isolation. She was also clear that she wanted an environment that 
was comfortable and supportive.

Working with the CWA they began to identify various options as well as more specific 
support around her anxiety.  An Art group was identified in the local community and 
she felt comfortable to attend. As well as making links with the group and attending the 
sessions she was linked in with the Mental Health and Wellbeing Service (MH&WB) for 
ongoing support around her anxiety. She also started to attend an Art group with the 
MH&WB service.

Over a couple of weeks, she began to grow in confidence and became less anxious as 
well as building up a network of support with other people in the groups. She felt ready 
to go back to work and has now re-established her work pattern and relationships 
within the work environment. She continues to receive support in the evenings as she 
can’t make appointments during the day.

She is currently receiving 1:1 support and keeping up the contact with both services. 
She has also been signposted to Listening Post.

With support she would like to look at a group for 20-30yr olds around Anxiety and 
feels that as she grows in confidence and reduces her isolation she will be in a position 
to volunteer and help support the group.

 

Page 24



17

Social prescribing is more than a method of signposting, but rather a way in which 
people can be helped to take active steps to seek out support and engage with their 
communities. We know that the CWS has also helped to reduce pressure on urgent 
care within the NHS on review at 6 months post CWS intervention. 

Social prescribing also has a significant feature in the recently published NHS Long 
Term Plan (5). Through social prescribing the range of support available to people 
will widen, diversify and become more accessible across the country. Link workers 
within Primary Care Networks will work with people to develop tailored plans and 
connect them to local groups and support services. Over 1,000 trained social 
prescribing link workers will be in place by the end of 2020/21 rising further by 
2023/24, with the aim that over 900,000 people nationally are able to be referred to 
social prescribing schemes by then. Gloucestershire is currently working on its 
model for social prescribing to support PCNs.

Some CWS providers are starting to collaborate with local employers using their 
volunteering schemes for employees to support and empower a person local to 
where they live to engage with their local community. This weekly support lasts for 4 
to 6 months and is a model that could be rolled out across the county. One example 
of this is the collaboration between staff working for Coventry Building Society and 
Caring for Communities and People (CCP) who is also a CWS provider. 

Wellbeing in the Workplace 

Whist Gloucestershire has a Work Place and Wellbeing Plan and has successfully 
worked with a number of small and large employers across the county, in Sweden 
part of a Friday afternoon is spent getting up from the desk/work base and talking to 
colleagues. This not only increases the wellbeing of employees but has also reduced 
sickness and absence rates, and increased retention and productivity. This is 
something we could practically do in Gloucestershire to support employees in the 
workplace through our Workplace Wellbeing Charter. 

Safe and Well Checks 

The seven deaths in Gloucestershire related to house fires have all been associated 
with people aged over 65 years and living on their own. 

For those people admitted to hospital following a fall, who live alone and have no 
family or friends, hospital staff will make a referral for a safe and well check to the 
person’s home prior to hospital discharge. These safe and well checks are provided 
by the Fire Service in Gloucestershire. 

Admission to hospital is often the first opportunity for the hospital and Fire Service to 
realise a person is isolated, lonely or not coping at home. A formal referral is then 
made by the Fire Service to arrange support for the older person. 

Page 25



18

By closer collaboration with primary care, including GP practices, these risk factors 
for an older person could be identified much earlier and the Fire Service could 
undertake safe and well checks for those people with a significant frailty and 
loneliness and social isolation score. 

Benefit of animals 

Animal based interventions are reported to show a significant reduction in loneliness 
scores, particularly for older people with cognitive impairment which involves at least 
weekly intervention by a dog for 6 weeks. 

This deep dive did not review the use of animal therapy amongst older people, 
including care homes but could be undertaken at some point in the future. 

Digital interventions

The use of weekly five minute video conferencing with family members for three 
months in long term care facilities is also shown to reduce loneliness scores three 
months post intervention. 

Needs assessments have been produced in Section 2 of this report showing those 
parts of Gloucestershire without access to mobile phones which has internet use. 

Neighbourhood activities 

Ageing Well Torbay (2017) (6) evaluation examined the role of neighbourhood 
activities on loneliness reductions. Findings showed loneliness was reduced through 
involvement in a variety of neighbourhood projects. Reconnecting people was 
considered to be the most visible change brought about by the project. Social groups 
and activities were identified as a primary mechanism in assisting isolated older 
people in making new connections. 

Case Study – Interplay, Stroud 

Interplay is a welcoming intergeneration project where parents with babies and pre-
school children meet on a weekly basis with older people to talk over tea and coffee. 
The group is run by the small proceeds it makes from coffee and food sales within the 
group. 

The group started in December 2019 by a mother of young children who saw an 
opportunity for people to meet in a place which wasn’t a coffee shop and involved 
significant amounts of money on coffee, particularly for those on a restricted budget. 

On talking to several older people who regularly attend the group they clearly 
articulated that they didn’t want to necessarily spend their days with other older 
people.  

Page 26



19

Leicester Ageing Together examined a range of interventions and impact on 
loneliness, including ‘Singing for the Brain’, Befriending & Mentoring, Men in Sheds, 
Social Prescribing and Intergenerational projects. One-on-one interventions did not 
show a significant effect on loneliness. However, group interventions did show 
significant changes in isolations scores. 

Shared meals

Shared meals can bring together independent single people to eat as a group at 
tables reserved at various restaurants and pubs, with each table hosted by a 
volunteer. Many shared tables have led to the development of new friendships. The 
intimate nature of sitting together as a group of 6 to 8 people was identified as much 
more rewarding than large coffee mornings. 

Case Study – Ageing Well, Gloucester 

Ageing Well is a group of older people in Gloucester City. They meet on a weekly 
basis in community venues, and with the support of an Age UK volunteer organise 
talks and presentations that are relevant to their own life experiences. 

One example of an activity the group arranged included the making on bread whilst 
discussing the very difficult issue of planning for when you die. 

The group support each other, sharing their experiences and ideas, many of whom live 
alone and are frail.   

Case Study – Homeshare Gloucester

This is project offers a full support service for an older people looking to share their 
home with a younger person. The expectation is that the younger person will share 
meals with the older person several times a week. 

The intention of this project is to reduce loneliness and isolation, maintain 
independence and enable older people to stay in their own home.

Age UK support this project to help with matching potential people who are seeking to 
rent with an older person, agreeing sharing process and the support to be provided. 

Page 27



20

What does success look like in tackling social isolation and loneliness? 

In summary, there are a number of mediating factors are central to the development 
of successful loneliness interventions and include:

 The development of companionship
 Support meaningful relationships 
 Tailoring interventions to the needs of those for whom interventions are 

designed

Emphasis should be placed on the need to promote the development of meaningful 
relationships, rather than ‘loneliness’ interventions which can be both unappealing 
and stigmatising. 

We also know there are number of predictable life events that can result in social 
isolation and loneliness whereby measures could be put in place to support children, 
young people, adults and older people through these transition points. 

Page 28



21

4. Our Approach 

Earlier in this document, examples have been given on local, national and 
international research and projects to demonstrate what works well to combat social 
isolation and loneliness. To get a perspective on the approach needed for 
Gloucestershire residents semi-structured interviews were undertaken with people 
who had lived experiences. Statutory, voluntary and community organisations in 
Gloucestershire were also asked the same questions on social isolation and 
loneliness. 

Each interviewee or group was asked 4 questions:

1. Can you describe your area of work and its connection to social isolation and 
loneliness (question for professionals and organisations only)

2. What do you see are some of the barriers in the area you work/live to tackling 
social isolation and loneliness? 

3. Can you give some examples of what works well in tackling social isolation and 
loneliness (Children, working age, older people? 

4. What else do you think we need to do to address social isolation and loneliness 
(Children, working age, older people)

The following groups and organisations took part in the interview process. Most 
interviews were on a 1:1 basis or held in very small groups of no more than 4 people. 

 Age UK, Gloucestershire
 Ageing Well Group, Gloucester City
 Barnwood Trust 
 Caring for Communities and People (CCP) 
 Cheltenham District Council 
 Cotswold District Council 
 Fire Service 
 Forest of Dean District Council
 Gloucester City Council 
 Interplay, Stroud (intergeneration project)
 Safer Gloucestershire Board 
 Salvation Army Play Parent and Toddler Group, Gloucester 
 Stroud District Council 
 Tewkesbury District Council

Page 29



22

Key themes from the deep dive 

The findings and key themes from the semi-structured interviews have been grouped 
into 7 areas: 

Personal Preference 

 Some people don’t like their own company 
 Need to have a ‘sense of purpose’. Loneliness is not an individual failing 
 Need a structure to the week 
 Need to create opportunities to network
 Older people don’t want to spend time with other older people. Value inter-

generational interaction 
 Face-to-face support is best 
 Finding friends is hard. Door knocking is a ‘no’ (older person)
 The atmosphere of parent and young children groups is important. It needs to 

be welcoming. Some groups are intimidating 
 People need to go and find things for themselves…
 ‘Would find buddying intimidating’

Family, Friends and Partners 

 People having children later in life, then going back to work, difficult to have a 
peer group 

 Family living nearby makes a big difference 
 People feel lucky when they have a husband/wife/partner
 People relying or depending on you make you come out 
 Hit retirement and you haven’t formed any social circles 

Vulnerable people 

 Children with a disability…’I worry about whether his friends are genuine’
  ‘Sometimes you need encouragement and hand holding to join a group’ (A 

mum with previous mental health issues, a young child and a baby with a 
disability)

Rurality and getting to know your neighbours 

 When you live in a rural community, you need to get to know each other 
 Need to make people aware and look out for others. We don’t know our 

neighbours now
 Need to get the interaction 
 Loneliness and social isolation needs to be everyone’s business within a 

community
 Get to know your neighbour 
 Creating community events 

Page 30



23

Transport 

 Good transport is a factor to combat loneliness and social isolation 

Environment 

 Focus on prevention for frail over 65 years olds and their fire risk  
 Use resources around us i.e. spaces and benches 
 Active design for new housing developments

Sustainable Communities 

 Focus on the positives. Look at what a person has, not what they haven’t 
got…

 Noticing the little things about people, and what they are good at 
 Create a society which demands what older people have to give 
 Build links with parish councils, helps to get closer to communities 
 When someone new moves into the street provide a ‘welcome pack’
 Collaboration between private & public sector and volunteering opportunities 

for those at risk of social isolation & loneliness 
 Create a ‘Gift Circle’ to build a community

Page 31



24

5. Key Priorities 

Taking into account the evidence from local, national, international evidence and the 
key themes from the local deep dive, below is a summary of the suggested actions 
we could take as a Health and Wellbeing Board to provide a more targeted 
approach across the county and meet gaps in current service provision. Some 
actions are very practical ones and others are an approach we could take. 

This is not an exhaustive list and would welcome the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
thoughts and ideas on what else we can do to address social isolation and 
loneliness. 

Theme Actions Required 

Personal Preference Provide person centred and tailored loneliness interventions 
which are designed for the specific needs of an individual or 
targeted population in terms of socio-demographic, 
vulnerability or types of loneliness

Personal Preference Create more opportunities to offer more inter-generational 
interactions across the county, where appropriate 

Personal Preference As a county we need to take opportunities to promote the 
development of meaningful relationships using people 
strengths, skills and experiences, rather than ‘loneliness’ 
interventions which can be both unappealing and stigmatising

Family, Friends and 
Partners

Support vulnerable and older people to make use of 
technology to regularly interact with friends and family who 
don’t live nearby through the use of Facetime or Skype 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours

Sustainable 
communities

Start building connections with our neighbours. Start by talking 
with our neighbours, to learn their names, find out their skills, 
interests and needs. Create a directory to share skills and 
resources. 

For those more developed communities, they could look to 
create a gift circle where a community both gives and receives 
skills and resources in an organised way. 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours

Sustainable 
communities

Collaborate with employers using their volunteering schemes 
to support and empower people to engage with their local 
community.

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours

Gloucestershire could look to introduce National Neighbours 
Day on a set day of the year whereby communities come 
together in an organised and celebratory way 

Page 32



25

Sustainable 
communities 

Transport Start building connections with our neighbours. Create a 
directory of regular journeys i.e. commuters taking people who 
don’t drive into towns, cities, places of interest, community 
groups, etc. 

Environment Focus on the prevention for frail over 65 years olds and their 
fire risk  

Environment Use resources around us i.e. spaces and benches. 

Each statutory partner could commission ‘talking benches’ 
across the county in strategic locations which optimise people 
to sit down and talk. The talking benches would include a 
plaque to raise awareness of combating social isolation and 
loneliness

Environment To ensure all new housing developments include areas which 
enable communities to come together i.e. community garden, 
walks, benches as well as promoting active travel i.e. walking 
and cycling 

6. Recommendation and Next Steps 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to comment on this draft Social Isolation 
and Loneliness Deep Dive. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board are specifically asked:

 Does this deep dive cover the key issues regarding social isolation and 
loneliness? 

 What is missing from this deep dive?  
 Are there any other groups, communities or areas of focus that the HWB 

would like to include in this deep dive? 
 Would the HWB like to see a strategy or action plan on social isolation and 

loneliness that could form part of the HWB Strategy? 
 What are the next steps the HWB would like to see happen regarding social 

isolation and loneliness? 

Page 33



26

Thank you

A wide range of individuals, community groups and organisations within 
Gloucestershire have helped to shape this strategy on social isolation and 
loneliness. We would like to thank those below who gave their time and insights 

Age UK, Gloucestershire
Ageing Well Group, Gloucester City
Barnwood Trust 
Caring for Communities and People (CCP) 
Cheltenham District Council 
Cotswold District Council 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Forest of Dean District Council
Gloucester City Council 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Interplay, Stroud 
Safer Gloucestershire Board 
Salvation Army Play Parent and Toddler Group, Gloucester 
Stroud District Council 
Tewkesbury District Council

Page 34



27

References 

(1) A connected society: A strategy for tackling loneliness – laying the 
foundations for change (October 2018) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-
for-tackling-loneliness

(2) Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Mortality: A Meta-Analytic 
Review. Holt-Lunstad at al (2015)

(3) Toward a Social Psychology of Loneliness: Daniel Perlman and Letitia Anne 
Peplau (1981)

(4) Loneliness - What characteristics and circumstances are associated with 
feeling lonely? (April 2017) 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lon
elinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2
018-04-10 

(5) The NHS Long Term Plan, NHS England (2019) www.longtermplan.nhs.uk

(6) Ageing Well Torbay (2017) https://ageingwelltorbay.com/about/

(7) An overview of review: the effectiveness of interventions to address loneliness 
at all stages of the life-course (October 2018) www.whatworkswellbeing.org 
Community  

(8) Exploring loneliness in children, Great Britain: 2018 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/exp
loringlonelinessinchildrengreatbritain/2018

(9) Little Book of Lykke – The Danish search for the world’s happiest people, 
Happiness Research Institute, Copenhagen 2017 

(10) Wellbeing Survey (July 2017) Gloucestershire County Council

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-for-tackling-loneliness
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-for-tackling-loneliness
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10
http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://ageingwelltorbay.com/about/
http://www.whatworkswellbeing.org/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/exploringlonelinessinchildrengreatbritain/2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/exploringlonelinessinchildrengreatbritain/2018


This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy – initial draft

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
As a response to the LGA Prevention System Peer Review, the new Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy has been under development. This has involved community and 
wider stakeholder engagement throughout the process. 

This paper outlines the initial draft for the content for the new strategy. It is proposed 
that there will be a shorter version produced alongside this full length strategy. 

Following the strategy, position statements will be developed for each priority, 
providing more detail about delivery, monitoring and evaluation. 

Recommendations to Board: 
1. Review and comment on the overall approach taken in the initial draft
2. Agree a nominated Health and Wellbeing Board member to lead on each of the 

priorities
3. Agree for the initial draft of the strategy to be circulated to key stakeholders for 

further comment
Financial/Resource Implications: 

None identified

Page 37

Agenda Item 9



Gloucestershire Joint 
Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy – Initial draft
2019 - 2030

Page 38



Foreword

Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, 

Health and Wellbeing Boards have a statutory 

duty to develop a Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy. It requires the Local Authority and 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to work 

together to understand the health and 

wellbeing needs of their local community, and 

agree joint priorities for addressing these 

needs to improve health and wellbeing 

outcomes and reduce inequalities through 

commissioning.

Gloucestershire is generally a healthy county, 

but that does not mean we should be 

complacent. We know that not everyone 

experiences good health and wellbeing and 

this is influenced by a wide range of factors. 

Evidence suggest that as little as 10% of 

someone’s health and wellbeing is linked to 

health care – it’s our environment, jobs, food, 

transport, houses, education and our friends, 

families and local communities which affect 

our health and wellbeing most. 

This Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

provides an excellent opportunity to focus on 

those areas where a collective, system wide 

approach can help to improve the health and 

wellbeing of the population of Gloucestershire. 

We recognise the considerable work that is 

going on across our districts and networks, 

and across the range of organisations that 

operate within them, to maintain and improve 

the health and wellbeing of our populations. 

We also acknowledge the considerable work 

that is being carried out in partnership across 

the county of Gloucestershire, with many 

strategies and programmes driving this work 

forward. We look to build on that work through 

the systems leadership of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board. 

The strategy is not about taking action on 

everything at once, but about setting priorities 

for joint action and making a real impact on 

people’s lives. It provides a focus and vision 

from which to plan ahead for the next ten 

years. 

Cllr Roger Wilson 
Chair of Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board
Cabinet member for adult social care commissioning

Page 39



1. Introduction
Our population in Gloucestershire was estimated to be around 628,139 in 2017, representing a rise 
of approximately 5,045 people since 2016. This population growth is fastest in the 65 and over age 
category. 

The health of people in the county is generally better than the England average. Gloucestershire is 
one of the 20% least deprived counties/local authorities in England, however about 12% (13,100) of 
children live in low income families. Life expectancy for both men and women is higher than the 
England average.

However good health and wellbeing is not evenly distributed across the county and pockets of 
deprivation do exist particularly in the main urban areas and in some of the market towns. Life 
expectancy is 8.1 years lower for men and 5.3 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of 
Gloucestershire than in the least deprived areas.

There was considerable variation in age structure at district level. The proportion of 0-19 year olds is 
highest in Gloucester and exceeds the national figure for this age group. The proportion of 20-64 
year olds is highest in Cheltenham and Gloucester. Cotswold, Forest of Dean, Stroud and 
Tewkesbury all have a higher proportion of people aged 65 and over when compared with the 
national figure.

Children from poorer backgrounds are more at risk of poorer health outcomes. The level of child 
poverty is better than the England average with 14.4% of children aged under 16 years living in 
poverty. However this means that more than one in every 10 Gloucestershire children is living in 
poverty.

With a large rural geography, transport is a vital factor in accessing services. 40,000 households in 
Gloucestershire do not own a car or van, making public transport essential to accessing public 
services. Gloucestershire’s Accessibility Matrix shows that in 24 Lower Super Output Areas it is at 
least a 45 minute walk or public transport journey to a GP.

Housing is unaffordable for those on low incomes in the county with the ratio of  house price to 
wages being higher in each of the districts compared with the national average. 

Gloucestershire’s first Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Fit for the Future, was published in 
2013. It focused attention on five objectives with an accompanying plan for each in the form of 
action cards. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board has evolved considerably since then. It has undertaken a series of 
development sessions and formed new ways of working. This has been tested through two key 
areas; our work on self harm and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). 

The Local Government Association Prevention System Peer Challenge in February 2018 made nine 
key recommendations. Alongside the need to refresh the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy with 
greater community input, the recommendations also included the need to set out a fuller vision for 
health and wellbeing; define ‘prevention’ clearly; include the wider determinants of health, and make 
greater use of the voluntary and community sector to provide community insight. 

Page 40



This strategy articulates the Health and Wellbeing Board’s response to the Prevention System Peer 
Challenge and sets out a clear vision and priorities. 

This strategy has clear links with the approach of the Safer Gloucestershire strategy. Safer 
Gloucestershire aims to ensure a coherent, strategic approach to the delivery of community safety 
activity in Gloucestershire. Together with this Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy this provides a 
county wide framework for achieving the Vision 2050 ambition of a ‘happy, healthy and safe’ 
Gloucestershire.

2. A whole system leadership approach 
Health and wellbeing depend on a complex interplay of factors. There is no single intervention or 
single organisation that in isolation can guarantee a positive population health and wellbeing. A 
whole system approach aims to align actions, target efforts for efficiently and provide an approach 
which is on-going, dynamic and flexible.

Crucially, it recognises the priorities and work of the other system ‘players’. Working together 
enables the system to move forward together rather than in separate silos, maximising synergies 
and creating a more impactful system-wide change.

Vision 2050
The intention of Gloucestershire Vision 2050 is to set ideas that collectively can transform the 
county for tomorrow while embracing, retaining, and nurturing the values and assets that are the 
central strengths of Gloucestershire today. It sets out ambitions for achieving this. One of the 
ambitions is:

“A healthy, happy and safe county: we will ensure people have a good work/life balance and 
see improved health and wellbeing.”

This Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides a clear mechanism for being able to deliver the 
‘healthy, happy’ element. 

Integrated Care System and the NHS Long Term Plan 
In 2016, NHS organisations and local councils came together to form 44 sustainability and 
transformation partnerships (STPs) covering the whole of England, and set out their proposals to 
improve health and care for patients. Gloucestershire has evolved to form an integrated care system 
(ICS), a new type of even closer collaboration. In an integrated care system, NHS organisations, in 
partnership with local councils and others, take collective responsibility for managing resources, 
delivering NHS standards, and improving the health of the population they serve. 

The NHS Long-Term Plan sets out key ambitions for the service over the next 10 years. The plan 
signals a clear focus on prevention, recognising that the NHS can take important action to 
‘complement’ the role of local authorities and the contribution of government, communities, industry 
and individuals. The Plan includes the commitment to a ‘renewed’ NHS prevention programme. The 
ICS will have a key role in helping to deliver this.

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and prevention plans under the ICS and response to the 
NHS Long-Term Plan are intrinsically linked.

Page 41



3. Developing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
This strategy has been developed through the engagement Health and Wellbeing Board members 
and wider stakeholders including our communities. 

Engaging communities 
Engaging with the public and listening to their views about health and wellbeing has been an 
essential part of developing the strategy. There have been four main stages to this.

Stage 1: Understanding the landscape 
There has been a wealth of previous engagement and consultation about health and wellbeing with 
various populations within Gloucestershire. Findings from a wide range of these were assessed to 
help build an understanding about what people have already told us. Mental health, loneliness, 
social and community connections were key themes. 

Stage 2: Informing the priority setting
Through workshops and structured interviews, we encouraged residents to consider their top three 
priorities in maintaining positive health and wellbeing. This helped to inform the priority setting 
process. 

Stage 3: Developing a better understanding of the priorities
This was an opportunity to feed back to communities the priorities which had been chosen and start 
to understand some more detail about how they viewed these priorities. This gave us better insights 
into what people view are the strengths and opportunities around the priorities and some examples 
of positive practice. 

Stage 4: Have we got it right?
This final stage involves the more traditional consultation stage for the strategy. It gives us the 
chance to check that the strategy reflects what we have heard throughout the engagement. 

Priority setting process
The community and wider stakeholder engagement helped to form a list of eleven potential themes 
for the Health and Wellbeing Board to then prioritise. In addition to these, ‘Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs)’ and ‘early years’ were added to the list since ACEs is an area in which the 
Board have recently taken a leadership role in and early years was a cross cutting theme running 
through many of the community engagement workshops.

The Health and Wellbeing Board went through a process of prioritisation taking into account need, 
impact, effectiveness, inequalities and acceptability. As part of the ‘acceptability’ criteria, the 
community and other stakeholder feedback was taken into account as well as a consideration of 
where the Health and Wellbeing Board could add value. These acceptability considerations carried 
a heavy weighting in the priority setting process..

4. Our vision
‘Gloucestershire is a place where everyone can live well,         

be healthy and thrive’.

Page 42



5. Our priorities
We have seven Health and Wellbeing Board priorities. 

 Physical activity
 Adverse Childhood Experiences 

(ACEs)
 Mental wellbeing

 Social isolation and loneliness
 Healthy lifestyles
 Early years and best Start in Life
 Housing

Tackling social isolation and loneliness is a shared priority between the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and Safer Gloucestershire. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a position statement on economic development and 
transport to recognise the importance of these to health and wellbeing. 

Transport:
40,000 households in Gloucestershire do not own a car or van, making public transport essential to 
accessing public services. The 2017 Community Survey linked transport and loneliness. 
Respondents who have a car as their main form of transport were the least likely key group to feel 
lonely. Consideration to this will be linked to the work on the social isolation and loneliness priority. 
The Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a position statement on transport and health 
identifying key systems levers. 

Economic development:
Economic prosperity (including educational attainment, employment and financial security) and its 
health benefits are well understood. Figures from the ONS covering Jul 2017-Jun 2018 state that 
8,700 people (2.6%) are unemployed in Gloucestershire. 62,000 (16.4%) are economically inactive, 
including students, retired, those looking after a home, and the temporary and long-term sick; 
though 20.4% of this group would like a job.

There is the opportunity for the Health and Wellbeing Board to link with the development of the 
Local Industrial Strategy to identify key objectives which overlap with economic development and 
health. Again, the Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a position statement for this area.

Furthermore, the Health and Wellbeing Board will maintain a watching brief over a wider health and 
wellbeing agenda. 

Each of the seven priorities are at different stages of development. It is important that the emphasis 
is maintained on where the Health and Wellbeing Board can truly add value. The focus needs to be 
on what it is we can only tackle in partnership.

It is important to recognise the need for local areas to be able to adopt bespoke approaches to how 
they approach the seven priorities.

Page 43



6. Understanding the priorities

Priority 1: Physical activity
Increasing physical activity has the potential to improve the physical and mental health and 
wellbeing of individuals, families, communities and the county as a whole. 

Physical inactivity is the 4th leading risk factor for global mortality accounting for 6% of deaths 
globally. People who have a physically active lifestyle have a 20-35% lower risk of cardiovascular 
disease, coronary heart disease and stroke compared to those who have a sedentary lifestyle. 
Regular physical activity is also associated with a reduced risk of diabetes, obesity, osteoporosis 
and colon/breast cancer and with improved mental health. 

Where are we now?
 People in the UK are around 20% less active now than in the 1960s. If current trends continue, 

we will be 35% less active by 2030.
 Nearly 1 in 5 adults in Gloucestershire are inactive (less than 30 minutes of activity a week). 

Where do we want to be?
 The national recommendation is for adults to aim to take part in at least 150 minutes of 

moderate intensity physical activity each week, in bouts of 10 minutes or more.
 Moderate intensity physical activities, such as brisk walking or cycling, cause adults to get 

warmer and breathe harder and their hearts to beat faster, but they can still carry on a 
conversation.

 We want to get 30,000 inactive people in Gloucestershire active and to make being physically 
active the social norm. 

How will we get there?
 For every individual the specific opportunities and barriers to being more active will vary.
 A traditional delivery model with specific interventions to get people active is highly unlikely to 

have a lasting impact on behaviour on its own.
 Using a whole system, behaviour-change approach to get the least active people in the county 

moving. 
 This will be delivered through Gloucestershire Moves which is facilitated by Active 

Gloucestershire and has been developed through extensive research and consultation. 
 Using a theory of change that suggests being active over a sustained period requires a shift in 

underlying behaviours and attitudes of individuals.  
 The approach recognises that many factors influence attitudes and behaviours.  For example 

the personal (e.g. self-confidence, experience, the social norms within an individual’s family, 
friends and close community), infrastructure (e.g. existence and maintenance of cycle lanes, 
sports facilities, clubs) and education (e.g. understanding of what’s involved), etc - collectively a 
set of interlocking ‘systems’.  

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The Gloucestershire Moves steering group provides the strategic direction, monitoring and 
evaluation for delivering this approach to improving physical activity and will report to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

Page 44



Spotlight on: How the system works together at a local level to deliver change in level of physical 
activity

Under Gloucestershire Moves, one of the campaigns is to prevent falls in older adults. The campaign 
focusses on behaviour intervention (strength and balance exercises). It first involved understanding the impact 
of current falls prevention interventions. Over 20 stakeholders and 100 older adults in the county were 
contacted as part of the research. The findings highlighted the lack of awareness of risk factors, difficulties 
accessing interventions and a need for simplified health style messages that were relatable. 

The findings also amplified the need for a social movement due to the importance of peer to peer influence - a 
network of people who will spread guidance and motivate people to either start strength and balance 
exercises at home, or join a class.  Gloucestershire Moves have embarked on a programme of recruiting this 
network through existing community groups; coffee mornings and lunch clubs, who will promote the exercises 
and distribute our material. 

The marketing campaign was tested with a network of stakeholders including older adults in the community, 
professionals as well as local governing bodies. The final version of the campaign will be promoted through 
Gloucestershire Moves’ partnership with the CCG, local authority and community networks. It is anticipated to 
reach 175 groups locally and 85,000 people over the age of 65. 

Priority 2: Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)
ACEs are specified traumatic events occurring before the age of 18 years. High or frequent 
exposure to ACEs, without the support of a trusted adult can lead to toxic stress.  There is a large 
body of evidence which shows that the adversity we experience as children can affect us into 
adulthood. 

What are ACEs? (use infographic from strategy)
Abuse

 Physical abuse
 Sexual abuse
 Emotional abuse

Neglect
 Physical neglect
 Emotional neglect

Household adversities
 Mental illness
 Substance misuse
 Incarceration
 Parental separation
 Domestic abuse

Developing resilience through access to a trusted adult in childhood, supportive friends, positive 
attachments and being engaged in community activities has been shown to improve outcomes even 
in those who experience high levels of ACEs.  This relies on active, thriving, and resilient 
communities.

Where are we now?
ACEs are prevalent across the population and recent studies have shown that nearly half of people 
in England experience at least one ACE, with around 9% experiencing four or more ACEs.

Where do we want to be?
Our vision is a resilient Gloucestershire where communities and organisations are acting on ACEs. 
We want to build communities and organisations that are aware of, able to talk about and take 
action on ACEs.  We will build a social movement that recognises the potential lifelong impacts of 
adversity in childhood and takes action to stop childhood harm.  

Page 45



How will we get there?
We will deliver this through the Gloucestershire ACEs Strategy. The concept of ‘viral change’ has 
been used to establish a network of ACEs Ambassadors, thus effectively mobilising people across 
the county to implement the ACEs Strategy.  Over 1000 people have attended events 
communicating the key messages of the Strategy as of May 2019.

Our strategic objectives are to: 
 Raise awareness and understanding of ACEs with communities and organisations 

through delivery of a co-ordinated local campaign;
 Implement training to equip communities and organisations to respond appropriately to 

ACEs;
 Continue our partnership work with communities and organisations to build resilience 

through encouraging trusted relationships and developing core life skills;
 Develop relevant resources and information for people identified with ACEs who need 

signposting to further sources of support;
 Increase our understanding of the distribution of ACEs across Gloucestershire;
 Incorporate ACEs informed approaches into relevant organisational policies, strategies 

and contracts; and
 Evaluate interventions and share good practice and positive outcomes from ACEs work 

across Gloucestershire, the South West and beyond

How will this be delivered and monitored?
Gloucestershire ACEs Panel leads on the ACEs strategy and reports to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board.  Further information is available at www.actionaces.org  

Spotlight on – partnership work with communities

The ACEs Strategy explicitly acknowledges the vital role of communities in action on ACEs and building 
resilience; agencies cannot do this work alone.

Two community pilots are being developed in Gloucester and Cheltenham.  These pilots will provide valuable 
information through testing out different approaches to building resilient communities acting on ACEs.  Early 
results are encouraging, with a high level engagement from extended families and increased trust and 
relationship building.

For example one parent was having escalating problems with their personal situation and that of their 
children, as well as problems maintaining their property.  Via personal support, trust has been established and 
the parent is now engaged in community activities.  They have grown massively in confidence and self-
esteem, regularly attend family support sessions and have started volunteering.

Page 46

http://www.actionaces.org/


Priority 3: Mental wellbeing
Mental health and wellbeing are affected by individual factors, by population characteristics and by 
the socio-economic circumstances in which a person finds themselves. Most of these risk factors 
not only contribute to poor mental health, but are also often the outcomes of poor mental health, i.e. 
social isolation can contribute to poor mental health, but equally poor mental health can contribute 
to social isolation. A focus on mental wellbeing is a vital component of the work our whole system 
does to improve the health, wellbeing and quality of life of our population.

Where are we now?
 Anyone can be affected by poor mental health at any point in their lives. 
 1 in 4 adults experience at least one diagnosable mental health problem in any given year.
 The national mental wellbeing survey measures people’s outlook on life satisfaction, feeling 

worthwhile, happy and anxious. For Gloucestershire, approximately 1 in 5 people have high self-
reported anxiety scores. 

 There are already some good examples of practice in Gloucestershire such as the mental health 
trailblazer, work through the Clinical Programme Group (CPG) and work through the Autism 
Strategy Group. 

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is for every resident of Gloucestershire to enjoy the best possible mental health and 
wellbeing throughout the course of their life.

How will we get there?
We will promote mental wellbeing and prevent mental illness across the life-course through:

 Promoting good mental health and wellbeing from the earliest age;
 Gloucestershire Wellbeing (GloW) and the Gloucestershire commitment to promoting mental 

wellbeing through organisations and employers;
 Helping people build the 5 Ways to Wellbeing into their everyday lives;
 Preventing suicide and self-harm;
 Creating and sustaining the conditions for good mental wellbeing;

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The Gloucestershire Mental Health & Wellbeing Partnership Board will continue to lead and co-
ordinate the delivery of this priority. 

Spotlight on: GloW and the Gloucestershire Commitment 
Led by the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, GloW has been launched as a commitment to taking 
positive action to improve mental wellbeing for everyone in Gloucestershire.

The aim of the campaign is to increase focus on the contributing factors of mental wellbeing and help 
organisations and communities recognise where they can make improvements to have a positive impact on 
our day to day wellbeing. By looking to make a difference to these, we are able to improve the mental 
wellbeing of Gloucestershire residents, and prevent mental illness in the future.

When we focus on the factors that affect our wellbeing day to day, we are in a better position to keep 
ourselves well and less likely to hit crisis point. At the heart of GloW is the Gloucestershire Commitment, 
signed by organisations in the public, private and voluntary sectors who want to pledge to be a part of the 
movement.

This is based on the national Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health, led by Public Health England – 
www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health . The wide range of 
partners who have already signed the Gloucestershire Commitment can be seen at 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow 

Page 47

http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow


Priority 4: Social isolation and loneliness
Loneliness and isolation are not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an objective state 
determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts between individuals, across groups 
and communities.’ Meanwhile loneliness is defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s 
emotional perception of the number and/or quality of social connections they need compared to 
what is currently being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be socially isolated 
without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being socially isolated. 

There is a growing body of research that identifies and quantifies the impact of social isolation and 
loneliness on individuals and the wider economy. There is clear evidence that social isolation and 
loneliness are associated with negative health outcomes, which in turn places increased stress on 
local health and social care services.

Where are we now?
 1 in 2 adult social care users in Gloucestershire have as much social contact as they would like.
 Over a quarter (28.5%) of adult carers in Gloucestershire have as much social contact as they 

would like.
 The Community Wellbeing Survey carried out in July 2017 reported ‘38% of all respondents feel 

lonely at times, and loneliness is highest in those with a mental health issue, a long term illness 
and/or a learning disability. Those with a car as their main form of transport considered 
themselves less lonely’. However, this was based on a small sample of 606 respondents.

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is to reduce social isolation and loneliness, and enable local people to take an active 
role in building and nurturing strong social networks and vibrant communities.

How will we get there?
This is a priority which requires a fuller understanding of where the focus is needed. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board have requested a deep dive into this priority which will help to identify actions. 

The Enabling Active Communities Group has undertaken the deep dive with a number of structured 
interviews with a wide cross section of individuals, community groups, voluntary and statutory 
organisations across the county. Based on the feedback received to date, the approach to tackling 
social isolation and loneliness can be grouped into the following areas of focus:

 Create face-to-face opportunities for people to network, including intergenerational 
opportunities;

 Recognise and optimise the importance of friends, family and partners;
 Support/empower vulnerable people to join social groups, initially through 1:1 support; 
 Encouraging people to make the time to get to know their neighbours through the creation of 

community events and welcome packs for new people moving into the area;
 Make more use of the resources around us i.e. spaces and benches;
 Active design for new housing developments;
 Creating the conditions for and supporting individuals and communities  to solve problems 

and do more for themselves; 
 Adopt an strengths based approach in all we do

How will this be delivered and monitored?
This is a shared priority between the Health and Wellbeing Board and Safer Gloucestershire.  A 
deep dive has been undertaken by Enabling Active Communities. This is a good example of where 

Page 48



Districts will work in different ways; but will be able to measure and feedback on activity, outputs 
and outcomes.
Spotlight on: Wye Valley AONB MindSCAPE project
MindSCAPE is Wye Valley AONB project which is aimed at improving the mental and physical health of 
people diagnosed with early onset dementia and their carers. It aims to reduce social isolation and help  them 
to reconnect with the natural environment. Fortnightly sessions include activities to engage participants with 
the outdoors and the natural environment. Training for professionals and family carers is also delivered, 
enabling people to feel confident carrying out MindSCAPE type activities independently in their own setting. 
The project contributed towards the Forest of Dean becoming a ‘dementia friendly’ community and has, in 
partnership with the Forest of Dean District Council and the Gloucestershire County Council Dementia 
Education Team, trained a team of voluntary ‘dementia champions’.

Over 4 years there were 96 sessions delivered to 55 participants (29 carers, 26 dementia sufferers). The 
combination of arts and the environment is one which isn’t otherwise available to this hard to reach and often 
isolated group, and it has proved hugely rewarding to those with a keen interest. The creative and relaxed 
atmosphere in sessions provided participants with a wonderful experience which they enthusiastically 
attended on a regular basis. Here what participants said:

“When people get a diagnosis their world becomes smaller and safer, here it is a space people can walk if 
they want to, the staff are very aware and enable people to get out and about”

“MindSCAPE is a place where people go for support and companionship, a place where someone will  listen 
to you, a place full of fun and laughter, a place where everyone understands when you are going through 

tough times, a place where members feel safe”

“Coming up that drive way – you just know it’s going to be a great day”

“Benefits are huge for my husband who really looks forward to sessions. For me, it’s meeting other people in 
the same boat and it gives me a few hours break”

Priority 5: Healthy lifestyles
Health and wellbeing is affected by the lifestyles people lead including diet and physical activity, 
maintaining a healthy weight, smoking, alcohol consumption and drug use. These factors are 
interdependent and complex, which means that there is not one simple solution for improving 
healthy lifestyles. Collectively it is estimated that these factors are responsible for 25% of overall 
health outcomes.

From the Health and Wellbeing Board’s perspective, the focus needs to be on where programmes 
are transformational and can be scaled up to deliver change at population level. For this priority, 
initially the Health and Wellbeing Board will focus on healthy weight. 

Obesity reduces life expectancy by an average of three years, while severe obesity reduces it by 
eight years. People living with obesity are at increased risk of a range of health issues, including 
diabetes, heart disease, stroke, cancer, mental ill-health and musculoskeletal problems. Obesity is a 
health inequalities issue with children living in the most deprived parts of the county being twice as 
likely to be affected as those living in the least deprived areas.  

Over-simplifying the causes of obesity and implying that simple or single solutions will lead to 
sustainable results are unrealistic. Emerging evidence suggests that whole systems obesity (WSO) 
approaches involving ‘transformative co-ordinated action across a broad range of disciplines and 
stakeholders, operating across all levels of governance and across the life course’ can have some 

Page 49



benefit. The Health and Wellbeing Board has a clear role in the healthy weight agenda as a system 
wide, complex issue.

Evidence of how to operationalise such an approach is still in its infancy.  From 2016-18 
Gloucestershire participated in a national programme to coproduce guidance on how to implement a 
WSO. We are now using this learning to test and shape our local approach, through a place-based 
partnership with Podsmead community. Meanwhile, we will continue to deliver a wider programme 
of preventive action, alongside weight management services.     

Where are we now?
Two thirds of adults in Gloucestershire are estimated to be overweight or obese and approximately 
120,000 adults in Gloucestershire are living with obesity. 

1 in 10 (9.9%) 4-5 year olds and nearly 1 in 5 (17.8%) 10-11 year olds in Gloucestershire are living 
with obesity. It is estimated that there are 4,500 children of all ages with obesity in the county. 
Gloucester City has the highest level of childhood obesity in the South West region (21.2% of 10-11 
year olds compared to 16.8% regionally). Of particular concern are escalating levels of severe 
obesity affecting 5% of 10-11 year olds in Gloucester (compared to 4.2% nationally). 

Our current healthy weight programme includes:
 A range of school-based healthy eating and physical activity initiatives delivered via 

Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning (GHLL) and Gloucestershire Moves
 A range of community-based and specialised weight management support for adults   
 The First 1001 Days Programme; a recently introduced targeted programme of lifestyles support 

for vulnerable women and their children up to age 2 years
 Tier 2 (community based) and Tier 3 (specialised) weight services for children are in 

development and will be launched during 2019. 

Where do we want to be?
Our working vision for addressing obesity is:  
‘For every child growing up in Gloucestershire to enjoy the benefits of good food, an active lifestyle 

and a healthy weight’

In line with the national ambition for reducing childhood obesity we will aim to: 
‘Halve the level of obesity among children living in Gloucestershire by 2030’

Within this timeline we will also aim to: 
‘Halve the gap in obesity rate between children living in the most and least deprived parts of the 

county’

How will we get there?
A generation of systematic, joined-up effort is needed to combat childhood obesity. We know our 
interventions need to move ‘upstream’ to address social, environmental and economic 
determinants. Our WSO learning has emphasised the need for a place-based approach; delivering 
multiple aligned actions rather than numerous isolated initiatives. 

Page 50



We are adopting a long-term action learning approach, which will aim to:
 Preventing excess weight gain by: creating healthier physical activity and food environments; 

and making effective links with partnership action on income, debt and poverty; skills and adult 
education; employment and healthy workplaces   

 Working with communities, and Gloucestershire Moves to understand and shift social norms 
around eating and physical activity

 Equipping those already affected by obesity with skills for sustainable weight loss

Reducing health inequalities will be the critical thread. Our tactics will be to:
 Focus upstream to address environmental and economic drivers to make ‘healthier choices 

easier choices’
 Start with those communities at greatest risk (areas of deprivation, Black and Asian ethnic 

groups, children with disabilities, children of parents with severe obesity)
 Take a proportionate approach to ‘helping people to help themselves’, enabling rather than 

‘doing for’ and prioritising support for those facing the greatest challenges. 

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The healthy weight programme and governance arrangements are being reviewed to include wider 
representation, and a balanced scorecard and learning framework are being developed. This will 
link to key areas of work including: Gloucestershire Moves, and the service development work being 
delivered through the Adult Weight Management Board. 

Spotlight on:  Podsmead Food and Families Project
Community based insight research was conducted in Podsmead by Evolving Communities during 2018 to 
understand the factors affecting resident’s eating patterns, and their ideas and aspirations around food.  A 
localised ‘food system map’ has been developed using this insight.  This will help to guide local action. 

A follow up Food and Families Community Fun Day will be used to scope the skills and experiences of 
residents on the estate and support the community to enact the improvement ideas put forward last year. This 
will also seek to identify where support from other partners is needed, for example, in influencing local policy 
decisions affecting the food environment. A community network will be established to support delivery and 
capture evidence of impact and wider learning.  

Priority 6: Early years and best start in life
Early years describes the journey from pregnancy to an aged 5 child. This life stage and particularly 
the First 1,001 Days, is accepted to be the most significant in a child’s development in influencing 
their future health, emotional and social wellbeing than any other time in their life. 

Where are we now?
On average, there are around 6,700 live births per year in Gloucestershire. Gloucestershire is set to 
see an increase in the population aged 0-19 between 2017 and 2021 of 5.4% (7,508 children) with a 
disproportionate increase in children aged 0-4 years.  
 Around 1 in 10 (10.9%) women in Gloucestershire are recorded as smokers when their baby is 

born. 
 Over three quarters of women in Gloucestershire (77%) initiate breastfeeding, although this 

figure has remained fairly static.

Page 51



 Less than three quarters (69.2%) of children in Gloucestershire have achieved a good level of 
development by the end of reception. This is worse than the national average. Less than half 
(48.9%) in receipt of free school meals achieve this standard locally.

 
Where do we want to be?
We want to ensure that every child in Gloucestershire has the best start in life. 

How will we get there?
The key areas of focus include:

 Attachment and responsive parenting
 Childhood poverty
 Healthy lifestyles including oral health
 Childhood immunisations in 0-5 year 

olds

 School readiness (with a focus on 
those in receipt of free school meals)

 Vulnerable children
 Breastfeeding
 Smoking in pregnancy and early years
 ACEs

How will this be delivered and monitored?
There is currently no single overarching partnership in Gloucestershire for a co-ordinated approach 
to achieving this ambition. Further work is required to scope this Health and Wellbeing Board priority 
and to understand where the Board can add the greatest value. 

This is a partnership agenda which will need to work with an existing and emerging structure of work
programmes and governance which includes:

 Better Births
 Children and Families Partnership 

Framework
 Children’s Improvement Plan

 Safeguarding Children and the new 
Working Together guidance

 Child Friendly Gloucestershire
 Mental Health Trailblazer Pilot
 ACEs Partnership

The aim is to achieve better continuity, integration, efficiency, reduced duplication and ultimately 
improved outcomes.  

Spotlight on: Better Births
Gloucestershire Local Maternity System (LMS) brings together clinicians and provider organisations, 
commissioners and service users from across the Integrated Care System Network to plan and deliver 
maternity and early years care. In response to the National Maternity Review, this delivers our Better Births 
Maternity Transformation Plan. Some of the successes to date include:
• Redesigning the antenatal education offer to ensure that it meets the needs of women, is based on evidence 
and includes an integrated approach with the Health Visiting Service so women and families receive continuity 
of care;
• Piloting of a multi-professional integrated postnatal pathway to ensure that women and families receive a 
more joined up approach to care between health visiting and maternity services;
• Developing services so that more women have access to the same team of midwives throughout the journey 
through pregnancy birth and the early years. This model has been shown to improve a number of outcomes;
• Set up a Maternity Voices Partnership to ensure that the voice of women is embedded in continual service 
improvement;
• Keeping more Mums and babies together in the postnatal period, providing alternative safe options of care 
avoiding admissions of babies to the neonatal unit;
Developed a system wide Safety Improvement plan to deliver high quality care to every woman and family 
every time.

Page 52



Spotlight on:   A District level approach - No Child Left Behind
Cheltenham partners recently commissioned a needs assessment that highlighted the extent of child poverty 
in the town. The assessment told us that 4,300 children and young people are growing up in poverty and that 
those children, when compared to their more affluent peers are then facing significant challenges such as 
poorer education attainment, higher rates of exclusion, higher risk of being victims of crime, higher risk of 
being obese, higher risk of being open to social care, higher risk of self-harm.

In response to the needs assessment, Cheltenham Borough Council and its partners committed to a year of 
action, called No Child Left Behind, that is:
• Highlighting the issue of children growing up in poverty in Cheltenham and the inequality between them and 
their more affluent peers
• Starting to address the inequality gap beginning with a 12 month programme of events and activities
• A call to action for all sectors to work together to make transformational change over the longer-term

Partners have looked at the main issues associated with child poverty and devised a year of themed action. 
Each month focuses on a key area with events, activities and campaigns to engage young people, strengthen 
communities and help people to understand what they can do if they are experiencing difficulties. Examples of 
the themes include:
• #OurTown – activity included over 100 people attending a local poverty summit 
• #PositiveRelationships – during this campaign month a series of training and awareness raising sessions 
were provided for 85 professionals and teachers on how to support young people experiencing domestic 
abuse. 
• #StrongFamilies – a screening of the ground-breaking documentary “Resilience: The biology of stress & the 
science of hope” to 200 professionals and a plan to relaunch the Inspiring Families project. 

Priority 7: Housing and health
The age, condition and affordability of housing have a number of health consequences relating to 
overcrowding, fuel poverty and excessive cold, respiratory problems and emotional wellbeing. Poor 
housing has an impact on the health outcomes for children and older people in particular, including 
psychological distress and mental disorders, with people in crowded conditions tending to suffer 
from multiple deprivation. People who do not have access to affordable housing and may be 
homeless or at risk of homelessness are more likely to experience worse health outcomes than the 
general population.

Where are we now?
The ratio of house prices to earnings in 2015 was higher than the national average in every district 
except Gloucester, indicating that houses are unaffordable for residents on lower incomes. Average 
rental costs are in line with the regional average but there are wide variations across the county.

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) in 2015 listed 33 areas in Gloucestershire in the most 
deprived 10% nationally for ‘Barriers to Housing & Services’. The housing aspect of this indicator 
measures household overcrowding, homelessness, and housing affordability. This accounts for 
9.9% of the population in the county.

The IMD also assesses ‘Living Environment’ deprivation which includes indoors living environment, 
housing in poor condition, and houses without central heating. There are 17 areas of 
Gloucestershire in the 10% most deprived nationally in this domain which accounts for 28,126 
people (4.6%).

Where do we want to be?
We want to ensure health and wellbeing are promoted through improvements in the quality, 
affordability, availability and suitability of housing. 

Page 53



This is all through a partnership approach. Further work is needed to understand what the 
one or two main housing objectives under this priority should be and where the Health and 
Wellbeing Board can add the greatest value. 

How will we get there?
Subject to further scoping, the main areas could include::
 Housing design and quality 
 Housing conditions 
 Homelessness and housing for those 

in vulnerable circumstances 

 Housing with care 
 Intergenerational living
 Surrounding physical infrastructure 
 Surrounding community infrastructure

How will this be delivered and monitored?
There is no one single board which addresses housing and health at a county wide level. 
Relevant groups and boards include:
 Strategic Housing Programme Board
 Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Group/Strategic Directors 
 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee
 Joint Core Strategy Planning Delivery Group
 County Planners Group
 County Homelessness Implementation Group (CHIG)

Housing is also linked to the Vision 2050 Boards; Central Gloucestershire Growth 
Board/Central Gloucestershire City Region Board, Severn Vale Board and Rural Ambition 
Board. This list is by no means exhaustive and fundamentally, it does not reflect District level 
boards.

Further work is being undertaken to scope out this priority and best understand where the 
Health and Wellbeing Board can most add value to improving housing and health.

Spotlight on – healthy homes
The joint housing action plan has provided funding for a number of initiatives to improve people’s 
health and wellbeing. One of these projects is the Citizens Advice Bureau healthy homes team. They 
can take referrals from health teams who have identified people whose home environment is having a 
negative impact on their health. Self-referral is also possible as is referral from other statutory and 
voluntary organisations. Comprehensive benefits advice is provided and where appropriate people 
can be referred in to warm and well for energy efficiency improvements or heating systems. They will 
also be signposted to other support services where appropriate. 

This case features a woman aged 75 diagnosed with cancer and undergoing chemotherapy. She was 
referred to the Citizens Advice Bureau healthy homes team by the cancer support team. She was 
living on her own she was very concerned about her health and her mental health was suffering as a 
result. In her baseline assessment she reported 8/10 for feeling anxious and 3/10 for feeling 
worthwhile. The caseworker supported her around her finances and identified benefits that she was 
eligible for but not currently receiving. She was also referred to the Warm and Well service and a 
grant was provided so her boiler could be replaced. This not only saved her money but improved her 
home environment and reduced her risk of illness linked to her vulnerable condition following her 
treatment. 

A follow up assessment recorded 5/10 for anxiety and 6/10 for feeling worthwhile alongside the 
expected health benefits of having a warmer home 

Page 54



7. Our approach to delivering the strategy
To deliver the priorities, we have considered some Health and Wellbeing Board principles for 
ways of working: 

Principles for ways of working

 A systems leader: The Health and Wellbeing Board to take a position as a systems leader to 
enable and facilitate change to improve population health and wellbeing.

 Prevention focused: Developing a system wide shared understanding and commitment to 
prevention and early intervention. 

 Collaborative and community centred: Taking a strengths based, community centred 
approach. Ensuring a collaborative approach engaging communities in on-going conversations 
about the health and wellbeing priorities, assets and how we measure success. 

 Holistic: Taking a whole person, whole life and whole population approach to prevention.

 Parity of esteem: Ensuring equality in how we think about mental health and physical health 
and how they are valued. 

 Achieving equity in health and wellbeing: Developing shared understanding and commitment 
to addressing the differences in health status that exist between people due to social, 
geographical, biological or other factors. 

 Addressing the wider determinants of health and wellbeing: Recognising that many poor 
outcomes in health and wellbeing result from a complex interaction and accumulation of factors 
and poor life chances over time. 

 Recognising where we add value: Focusing on actions where by working together we can 
make the biggest difference to those in the greatest need.

Developing a place based approach is a key way of putting into operation the overall 
vision for health and wellbeing. This strategy gives an overarching set of priorities but 
recognises the need for a flexible approach to delivery to reflect the differences at local, 
community levels. 

A shared understanding of prevention
The Health and Wellbeing Board has a key role in ensuring that there is a sustained focus 
on embedding prevention across the health and social care system, taking a place-based 
approach (looking at communities and neighbourhoods) that goes beyond just thinking about 
what public sector services provide.

The Local Government Association Peer Challenge recommended that a clear and 
consistent definition of ‘prevention’ should be developed, owned and used by all partners. 
Prevention means different things to different people. The framework of primary, secondary 
and tertiary prevention is useful for helping to define what we mean by prevention: 

 Primary prevention includes health improvement and requires action on the 
determinants of health to prevent disease occurring. It has been described as 
refocusing upstream to stop people falling in to the waters of disease.

 Secondary prevention is essentially the early detection of disease, followed by 
appropriate intervention, such as health improvement activity or treatment.

Page 55



 Tertiary prevention aims to reduce the impact of the disease and promote quality of 
life through active rehabilitation.

At a population level health, improvement opportunities which look to prevent the need for 
treatment services are more cost effective than treating people. 

Addressing health inequalities
Tackling poverty and inequality is a theme running across all of our health and wellbeing 
priorities. In line with the NHS Long-Term Plan, we are committed to a ‘more concerted and 
systematic approach to reducing health inequalities’. We remain dedicated to improving 
outcomes for those in the worst position fastest.

We recognise that inequalities can be identified according to where people live, and that this 
is particularly true in some areas where there are high levels of deprivation and need; but 
there are also inequalities between genders, ethnicities, ages and abilities that we need to 
tackle. We will take an evidence based approach to reducing health inequalities through our 
work on each of the priorities.

8. Delivering the priorities
Whilst all of the priorities need a whole systems approach, it remains important to have an 
identified lead for each priority. There will be an identified partnership and a named Health 
and Wellbeing Board member responsible for the strategic oversight of each priority (see 
table 1).

Table 1: Strategic leadership for each priority
Priority Partnership Board leading Health and Wellbeing Board 

member lead
Physical activity Gloucestershire Moves tbc
Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs)

ACEs Panel Julian Moss

Mental wellbeing Mental Health and Wellbeing  
Partnership Board

tbc

Social isolation and 
loneliness

Enabling Active Communities Mary Hutton / Chris Brierley

Healthy lifestyles Healthy Weight Programme 
Board

Sarah Scott

Early years / Best Start in Life tbc Andy Dempsey
Housing tbc Pat Pratley

9. Measuring success 
The overarching framework for measuring success for the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy is from the national outcomes framework. Annex 1 shows the core indicators used 
and the current position. 

Each priority will have a position statement providing greater detail of the objectives and 
performance management. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board regularly monitors and reviews this strategy.

Page 56



Annex 1: Key indicator set
Priority Key indicator Gloucestershire 

baseline
95% CI South 

West
England Date of 

baseline
Source

Physical 
activity

Percentage of 
physically inactive 
adults

18.5% 17.1 – 
20.0%

18.7 22.2 PHOF 
2.13ii 

ACEs - - - - - - -
Mental 
Wellbeing

Self-reported 
wellbeing - people 
with a high anxiety 
score

18.2% 15.4% -
21.1%

19.6% 20.0% 2017/18 PHOF 
2.23iv 

Self-reported 
wellbeing - people 
with a low 
happiness score

8.7% 6.6% -
10.7%

7.4% 8.2% 2017/18 PHOF 
2.23iii

Social 
isolation/loneli
ness

Social Isolation: 
percentage of adult 
social care users 
who have as much 
social contact as 
they would like

49.2% 45.2% -
53.2%

46.0% 46.0% 2017/18 PHOF 
1.18i 

Social Isolation: 
percentage of adult 
carers who have as 
much social contact 
as they would like

28.5% 24.9%-
32.3%

32.3% 35.5% 2017/18 PHOF 
1.18ii

Healthy 
lifestyles – 
healthy weight

Child excess weight 
in 4-5 and 10-11 
year olds - 4-5 year 
olds

23.8% 22.7% - 
24.8%

21.9% 22.4% 2017/18 PHOF 
2.06i

Child excess weight 
in 4-5 and 10-11 
year olds - 10-11 
year olds

32.1% 31.0% - 
33.3%

30.3% 34.3% 2017/18 PHOF 
2.06ii

Early years / 
Best Start in 
Life

TBC

Housing TBC

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Item for decision

Sponsor Sarah Scott

Author Dave Mc Conalogue
Philip Williams
Sarah Scott

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council, Public Health Team

Key Issues:  

 A Members’ Task Group on Air Quality and Health made a series of 
recommendations including the development of a Gloucestershire Air Quality and 
Health Strategy, and a robust governance process led by the Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Board

 Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board agreed that it would serve as the 
focal point of governance for the development and implementation of the 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. 

 The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy has been developed by the 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership Group for approval by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 The members of the Health and Wellbeing Board have a key role supporting the 
delivery of the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy through their 
organisations. Members are asked to consider the commitments their 
organisations can make to contribute to implementing the strategy. 

Recommendations to Board: 
Members of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:
1. Approve the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy for implementation 

through the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership Group. 
2. Identify specific actions in their role as Board members and organisation leads 

to support improvements in air quality and reducing its impact on their staff and 
members of the public. 

Financial/Resource Implications: 
Funding requirements for implementation of the strategy will be reviewed by the 
Partnership Group. The Partnership will prioritise funding needs and agree 
approach to identifying funding opportunities. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 10



1. Purpose
This report briefly summarises the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health strategy 
development process and the key strategic areas for delivery as described in the strategy 
document. The Board members are asked to approve the strategy for implementation in 
Gloucestershire, and to consider how their organisation can make specific commitments 
to support its implementation. 

2. Background
Exposure to poor air quality has a negative impact on health from both short term and 
longer term exposure. It impacts on the development and exacerbation of respiratory 
illnesses, heart disease, and cancers amongst other illnesses. It also has an impact on 
demand for health and social care services and contributes to reductions in productivity. 
Moreover, it is a source of inequality in Gloucestershire, where those who pollute the least 
have the highest levels of exposure and the poorest outcomes. 

In November 2018 a ‘Deep Dive’ into air quality and health in Gloucestershire was 
presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board. This work was informed by the 
Gloucestershire Health and System Impact Assessment, and the work of the Members’ 
Task Group on air quality and health. The Board agreed that air quality was an important 
issue for the health of the population of Gloucestershire. The Board also agreed to act as 
the overarching point of governance for the development and implementation of a 
Gloucestershire Strategy for Air Quality and Health.  

This paper provides a brief summary of the development and content of the draft 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. 

3. Development of the Air Quality and Health Strategy
The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy development has been led by the Air 
Quality and Health Partnership which is a multiagency group set up to coordinate the 
development and delivery of the strategy.  The strategy has been informed by a range of 
private and public sector organisations and professionals, and through a systematic 
review of the evidence regarding the relationship between air quality and health and 
positive actions to improve air quality and reduce its impact on health. The key sources 
which have informed the strategy include:-

 Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health System Impact Assessment
The Health and System Impact Assessment (HSIA) was a systematic approach to the 
consideration of data and evidence regarding air quality and health in Gloucestershire, 
which informed the recommendations of the Members’ Task Group on Air Quality and 
Health. The HSIA also included strong participation from a range of stakeholders across 
Gloucestershire through a workshop involving 55 delegates. 

 Members’ Task group on air quality and health
The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Members’ Task group was a cross party 
group, supported by County Council officers. The group agreed a set of 
recommendations, which covered: air quality monitoring; establishment of Air Quality and 
Health Partnership; development of an air quality and health strategy for Gloucestershire; 
digital air quality information sharing; consideration of air quality and health in planning 
and transport policy; strengthening of the local transport plan regarding air quality and 
health; uptake of electric vehicles; uptake of active travel; and cleaner vehicle fleets. 

 Air quality and health strategy development workshop
The Partnership group set up a multi-agency, multi-professional workshop to identify and 
prioritise initiatives for inclusion in the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. 
The workshop was attended by more than 60 delegates from private and public bodies. 

Page 60



 Partnership and work stream delivery groups
The partnership and its work stream delivery groups reviewed the strategic themes and 
agreed amendments across partners. 

4. Key strategic areas for delivery
The strategy draws together a number of key strategic areas for delivery which were 
identified through the strategy development process. The key strategic areas for delivery 
are: 

 Public engagement
 Air quality monitoring and information
 Active travel
 Planning and policy
 Ultra low emission vehicles
 Cleaner fleets and public transport. 

Detailed actions to support the delivery of the key strategic areas are contained in the 
main strategy document. 
 
5. The role of members of the Health and Wellbeing Board
The members of the Board have a key role in promoting the implementation of the 
strategy as an important tool to help improve the health of the population of 
Gloucestershire. The Board also have a position as Heath and Wellbeing leaders to 
support the delivery of the strategy to meet commitments in national policy which are 
specifically impacted by air quality: The Clean Air Strategy; The UK plan for tackling 
roadside nitrogen dioxide; and the NHS Long Term Plan (which sets target for at least 
90% of NHS fleet to use low-emissions engines by 2028). 

Additionally, Board members can lead actions in their own organisations to directly 
contribute to the delivery of the strategy by reviewing opportunities to: reduce the pollution 
attributed to their own fleet and the fleet of the services they contract with; enable 
employees to engage in active means of travel during their commute to work and in their 
work based travel; and to support clients and patients to reduce their levels of pollution 
when they use their services. 

5. Recommendations for the Health and Wellbeing Board
Members of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:-

1. Approve the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy for implementation 
through the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership Group. 

2. Identify specific actions in their role as Board members and organisation leads to 
support improvements in air quality and reducing its impact on their staff and 
members of the public. 

Authors:
Dave Mc Conalogue, Consultant in Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council
Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner, Gloucestershire County Council
Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Air 
Quality and Health 

Strategy

Developed by the Gloucestershire Air Quality 
and Health Partnership

Report authors

Dave Mc Conalogue, Gloucestershire County Council

Philip Williams, Gloucestershire County Council

Maria Arthurs-Hartnett, Gloucestershire County Council

Tom Beasley, Active Gloucestershire

Jo Atkins, Gloucestershire County Council

Liz Kirkham, Gloucestershire County Council

Members of the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership

Page 63



2

Contents
1 Introduction .......................................................................................................................3

2 Background.......................................................................................................................4

2.1 What is Air Quality? ...................................................................................................4

2.2 Policy and Legislation................................................................................................5

3 Strategy Development Process ........................................................................................7

3.1 Strategy Development Coordination Delivery and Oversight ....................................7

3.2 Key Informants of the Strategy ..................................................................................8

4 Strategy Vision and Aims................................................................................................10

4.1 Strategy vision .........................................................................................................10

4.2 Strategy aims...........................................................................................................10

5 Key strategic areas for delivery ......................................................................................11

5.1 Public Engagement .................................................................................................11

5.2 Air Quality Monitoring and Information ....................................................................11

5.3 Active Travel............................................................................................................12

5.4 Planning and Policy .................................................................................................13

5.5 Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs).....................................................................13

5.6 Cleaner Fleets and Public Transport .......................................................................14

6 Governance Arrangements.............................................................................................16

7 Evaluation and objective setting .....................................................................................16

8 Risks and Mitigation........................................................................................................16

9 Funding and Finance ......................................................................................................16

Page 64



3

1 Introduction

The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health strategy describes the strategic approach in 
Gloucestershire to improving air quality and mitigating its impact on health as it relates to 
nitrogen oxides and particular matter (with recognition that this scope may increase as 
evidence and priorities develop). The strategy has been developed to be delivered through a 
partnership approach across agencies, professionals and members of the public who are 
active in Gloucestershire. This strategy document summarises: background to air quality and 
health; the strategy development process; strategy vision and aims; key strategic areas for 
delivery; governance process for strategy delivery; approach to risk management; timeline 
for strategy delivery; evaluation; and financing. The strategy will drive the strategy delivery 
plans which will be development and implemented through work stream delivery groups. 

Page 65



4

2 Background

2.1 What is Air Quality?

Air quality is a measure of the degree to which the air in a given location is free from any 
chemical, physical or biological agent that modifies the natural characteristics of the 
atmosphere. Key sources of air pollution in the UK include transport, energy production, 
industry and manufacturing, domestic combustion, and farming. Once released, pollution is 
dispersed and can travel great distances within and between countries. Poor air quality is a 
source of inequality, where those with the poorest health and life expectancy are also the 
more likely to be exposed to poor air and suffer the poorest outcomes. 

It is estimated that there are 340,000 life years lost and 40,000 premature deaths attributable 
to poor outdoor air quality in the UK every year.1 There is no safe level of exposure to key air 
pollutants such as nitrogen oxides and particulate matter. Exposure to poor air quality 
contributes to the development of long term conditions, and shorter life expectancy. It also 
results in both acute admissions to healthcare services, and long term health and social care 
needs. Children, pregnant women, the elderly and those with pre-existing cardiovascular or 
pulmonary disease (or those at risk of developing these) are particularly vulnerable. 
However, poor air also quality represents a risk to the whole population, regardless of their 
health or stage of life. The impacts from exposure to poor air quality are felt both through 
long and short term exposures. 

The key pollutants contributing to poor air quality are: particulate matter, nitrogen dioxide, 
carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, sulphur dioxide, and low level ozone. While all of these 
pollutants contribute to poor human health outcomes, this strategy focuses on particulate 
matter and nitrogen dioxide as identified as most amenable to action at the local level in 
Gloucestershire, and also as the focus of national strategy and European directives. 

Nitrogen Oxides (NOx)

Nitrogen oxides are a group of gases formed during the combustion of fossil fuels. Nitrogen 
Dioxide (NO₂) is the most notable of this group of gases in terms of its impact on health. In 
Gloucestershire the principle local source of NO₂ which the population is exposed to is from 
road transport. The Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (Defra) estimates that 
80% of NOx emissions in areas in which the UK is exceeding NOx limits are due to 
transport, with the largest source being emissions from diesel cars and vans2. NOx exposure 
has a negative impact on health from both short and long term exposure. There is evidence 
of a strong relationship between short term NOx exposure and prevalence of respiratory 
conditions, particularly asthma in children. There is also a developing evidence base 
regarding the poor outcomes in terms of health and life expectancy from longer term 
exposure. 

Particulate Matter

1 Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution, RCP, 
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution 
2 Health matters: air pollution, PHE, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-
pollution/health-matters-air-pollution

Page 66

https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution


5

Particulate matter describes pollution which is mixture of solid particles and liquid droplets. 
PM₁₀s and PM₂.₅s (particles less than 10 and 2.5 micrometers in diameter respectively) are 
of most interest as they are fine inhalable particles which can be absorbed into the lung 
tissue, and even into the blood for the finest particles. In Gloucestershire the main local 
sources are from combustion of fuel, road use and brake dust. There is strong body of 
evidence of impacts of both short and long term exposures to particulate matter.  Exposure 
increases mortality and morbidity from cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, including 
coronary heart disease, stroke, asthma, and lung cancer.3 There is a developing evidence 
base for a link between exposure to particulate matter and poorer early childhood 
development as well as the development of central nervous system conditions such as 
Alzheimer’s and Parkinson’s disease.4

2.2 Policy and Legislation

National policy and legislation

The UK has statutory obligations not to exceed specified limits on concentrations in outdoor 
air of major air pollutants under EU legislation.5 The Clean Air Strategy and  the UK plan for 
tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations’6 commits the UK to improving air quality 
and reducing the impact of NOx and PMs on the health of the population. The national 
strategy further commits the UK to emission reduction targets for overall emissions of five 
damaging air pollutants, including PM2.5 and NOx.7

Local Authority responsibilities

Local authorities (district councils within Gloucestershire) have a statutory duty to monitor air 
quality and designate Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) where pollution exceeds 
specified limits, and to put a plan in place to tackle the issue. The national Clean Air Strategy 
has presented the options for reforming the local legislative framework for tackling air 
pollution. These include shifting the focus to prevention, facilitating more collaborative action 
across local government and other relevant bodies, and a greater emphasis on protecting 
the public during Air Pollution Episodes (APEs).8 The County Council as the Highways 
authority has a strong role in helping to manage air quality where identified by District 
Authorities. 

Air Quality and Health in Gloucestershire 

A Health and System Impact Assessment (HSIA) was carried out for Gloucestershire under 
the direction of the Gloucestershire Members’ Task Group on Air Quality and Health. The 
HSIA included a review of data and epidemiology related to air quality and health in 
Gloucestershire. The following is a summary of the key findings of this systematic review. 

3 Health matters: air pollution, PHE
4 Committee on the medical effects of air pollutants. Statement on the evidence for the effects of 
nitrogen dioxide. London: COMEAP, 2015  
5 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/Air_Quality_Objectives_Update.pdf 
6 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/63
3269/air-quality-plan-overview.pdf 
7 Clean Air Strategy, DEFRA
8 Clean Air Strategy, DEFRA

Page 67

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/Air_Quality_Objectives_Update.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/633269/air-quality-plan-overview.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/633269/air-quality-plan-overview.pdf


6

Gloucestershire’s air quality

Air quality levels for PM₂.₅ in Gloucestershire are in line with regional averages. However, 
there is marked variation between and within districts. Estimated levels are highest in 
Tewkesbury and Cheltenham, which are both higher than regional averages. PM10estimates 
show the highest concentrations are in the Churchdown and Ashchurch areas of 
Tewkesbury and the west of Cheltenham.

The highest estimated concentrations for nitrogen dioxide are in North Gloucester, 
Cheltenham and around Gloucestershire Airport. 16 NO2 monitoring sites across the county 
are exceeding WHO recommended target levels for NO2. 11 of these sites are located in 
Cheltenham district, 4 were located in Gloucester and 1 is located in Cotswold at the Air 
Balloon Roundabout.

There are 8 air quality management areas (where national air quality targets are not being 
achieved) in Gloucestershire. The majority are located in urban areas or in the case of 
Cotswold at a major road junction (the Air Balloon junction, Birdlip).

Exposure to poor air quality in Gloucestershire

Within Gloucestershire there are nine Lower Super Output Areas that exceed the 
recommended levels for Nitrogen Dioxide, of these two are in the most deprived 20% of the 
country in terms of indices of multiple deprivation. Air pollution is a health inequality issue as 
the most deprived experience disproportionate exposure to poor air quality. Moreover, areas 
with the worst exposure to poor air quality also have the lowest levels of car ownership so 
contribute less to the pollution. Conversely, areas with the highest levels of car ownership 
have less exposure to poor air quality. 

In Gloucestershire children (who are more vulnerable to the effects of poor air quality) also 
have on average higher levels of exposure than other age groups.

Data for Gloucestershire suggests that those who are already reliant on adult social care 
also have a higher exposure to poor air quality. This exposure can be a substantial risk 
factor for poorer health outcomes, development or exacerbation of long term conditions, 
acute episodes of hospital care, or increased reliance on health and social care services.

Protective factors 

Gloucestershire has high rates of car use for travel to work compared to the rest of the UK. 
According to the most recent census, approximately 76% of people in Gloucestershire travel 
to work by car, compared to 66% nationally.9 Even where journeys to work are less than two 
kilometres, a much lower proportion are made on foot or by bicycle than in the rest of the 
UK. Levels vary substantially within the county between rural and urban areas. 

9 2011 Census, ONS  

Page 68



7

3 Strategy Development Process

The development of the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy originates from the 
work of the Gloucestershire County Council Members’ Task Group on Air Quality and 
Health. This group was set up to review air quality and its relationship to health in 
Gloucestershire. The Member’s Task Group directed the completion of a Health and System 
Impact Assessment (HSIA) for air quality and health in Gloucestershire. The HSIA was used 
to inform members’ recommendations to the Gloucestershire Environment and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and the Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet. 

The Member’s Task Group recommendations covered a range of areas, including: policy 
and planning, electric vehicles, and active travel. Three key recommendations from the 
Members’ Task Group related to the development and implementation of the strategy 
include:

 Development of an Air Quality and Health Partnership, comprising of representatives 
from both public and private sector organisations

 Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership develop a strategy to address air 
quality and health within Gloucestershire

 Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership report into the Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Board on strategy development and implementation

3.1 Strategy Development Coordination Delivery and Oversight 

The development of the strategy has been directed through three key levels of governance: 
the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB); the Gloucestershire Air Quality and 
Health Partnership; and the Air Quality and Health work stream delivery groups (figure 1). 

Role of Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is the central point of governance 
for the development of the strategy and its implementation. The Partnership will present the 
draft strategy to HWB for its review, amendment and sign-off. Following the approval of the 
strategy, the Partnership will present annual reports to HWB to update on the progress of the 
strategy implementation. 

Role of the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership

The Partnership has overall responsibility for directing the development and implementation 
of the strategy. The Partnership has developed the approach for the strategy development 
and directed the creation and coordination of work stream delivery groups. The Partnership 
will approve the draft strategy for presentation to HWB. 

Role of the Air Quality and Health Work Stream Delivery Groups

The Partnership has created three multi-agency, multi-professional, work stream delivery 
groups on: air quality monitoring and behaviour change ; active travel; and electric vehicle 
and fleet. The purpose of these groups is to help inform the development of the strategy, and 
once the strategy has been agreed to develop work plans for its delivery. 

Page 69



8

Figure 1: Overview of strategy development coordination delivery and oversight

3.2 Key Informants of the Strategy

The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy has been developed based on the 
contributions of a wide range of stakeholders from private and public bodies, and a range of 
professions and knowledge bases. The Strategy has also been informed by the evidence 
base about what works to improve air quality and mitigate its impact on health, and local 
data on air quality and health in Gloucestershire. The following provides a brief overview of 
the principal sources used to inform the Strategy:

Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health System Impact Assessment

The Health and System Impact Assessment (HSIA) was a systematic approach to the 
consideration of data and evidence regarding air quality and health in Gloucestershire. The 
HSIA summarised evidence of the relationship between air quality and health, and the 
interventions to improve air quality or mitigate its impact on health at the local level. It also 
includes a comprehensive review of data on air quality in Gloucestershire, relevant health 
outcomes, and associated information including levels of active travel. The HSIA included 
strong participation from a range of stakeholders across Gloucestershire through a workshop 
involving 55 delegates. The findings from the HSIA were summarised in a set of 
recommendations which were presented to the Members’ Task Group. 

Members’ Task group on air quality and health

The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Members’ Task group was a cross party group, 
supported by County Council officers. Informed by the HSIA and member discussions the 
group agreed a set of recommendations, which covered: air quality monitoring; 

Page 70



9

establishment of Air Quality and Health Partnership; development of an air quality and health 
strategy for Gloucestershire; digital air quality information sharing; consideration of air quality 
and health in planning and transport policy; strengthening of the local transport plan 
regarding air quality and health; uptake of electric vehicles; uptake of active travel; and 
cleaner vehicle fleets. The recommendations were presented for endorsement to the 
Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Gloucestershire 
County Council Cabinet. 

Air quality and health strategy development workshop

The Partnership group set up a multi-agency, multi-professional workshop to identify and 
prioritise initiatives for inclusion in the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. The 
workshop was attended by more than 60 delegates from private and public bodies. The 
delegates were divided into groups to discuss opportunities, challenges and priorities 
regarding: active travel; air quality monitoring; behaviour change; policy and planning; and 
electric vehicles and clean fleet. The outputs from the workshop were developed into a 
thematic strategic review. 

Partnership and work stream delivery groups

The partnership reviewed the draft key strategic themes, which were derived from the 
integration of the three sources of information detailed above. As part of the Partnership’s 
strategy development process, the work stream delivery groups were tasked with reviewing 
the strategic themes and agreeing amendments. Once the work stream delivery groups had 
completed their review, the Partnership agreed the final strategy. 

The key strategic areas identified in section five are the agreed outputs from the strategy 
development process detailed above. 

Page 71



10

4 Strategy Vision and Aims

4.1 Strategy vision

For organisations, professionals and the public across Gloucestershire to work together to 
improve air quality in the county and reduce the impact of air pollution on human health and 
the environment. To contribute to the vision of Gloucestershire as a prosperous, happy, 
healthy, and sustainable county. 

4.2 Strategy aims

The key aims of the strategy are to:

 Bring about a significant and measurable improvement to air quality in 
Gloucestershire through joined-up working to implement cost-effective measures.

 Reduce the impact of poor air quality on the health of residents, workers and visitors, 
and the environment.

 Raise public awareness of air quality, its impact on health and personal protection 
measures in order to promote sustainable behaviour change.

 Increase our understanding of the state of air quality in Gloucestershire and the 
impact of measures to improve air quality.

 Meet and exceed statutory obligations and national targets on air quality.

The strategy focuses on the impact of air quality as related to particulate matter and nitrogen 
dioxide as these are the most amendable to action at the local level. However, the strategy 
recognises the developing evidence base regarding the relationship between air quality and 
health, and the need to be flexible in the approach to improving air quality and minimising its 
impact on health as directed by the evidence. 

Page 72



11

5 Key strategic areas for delivery

This section describes the key deliverables to achieve the strategy vision and aims. It 
reflects the evidence base for what works to improve air quality related to particulate matter 
and nitrogen dioxide, the Gloucestershire context, and the views and expertise of a range of 
organisations and professions. 

5.1 Public Engagement

It has been acknowledged throughout the strategy development process that relatively little 
is known about the views and understanding of the public in Gloucestershire regarding air 
quality and health. It is important that we take steps to understand the public’s views, 
knowledge and motivations, in order that they can be engaged in developing actions which 
are aligned with their priorities. This should be developed in partnership with all work stream 
delivery groups to ensure a joined up approach to communications. The outcomes will be 
used to ensure a joined up approach for the delivery of the Gloucestershire Air Quality and 
Health Strategy and to inform the approaches of the three sub-groups in their areas of 
specialism.

5.1.1 Public survey: Review options for a public survey, either aimed at the general 
public or targeting a specific group (e.g. primary schools). 

5.1.2 Public engagement in addressing air quality: Review opportunities to engage 
the public in the development of interventions to improve their knowledge and 
understanding of air quality and health, and their role in protecting their 
communities. This work should be completed through community groups and 
agencies that already have established relationships with target groups. 

5.2 Air Quality Monitoring and Information

Air quality monitoring data in Gloucestershire is currently limited in scope and restricted to 
NOx levels. The local understanding of air quality relies heavily on modelled data, which has 
some substantial limitations. Efforts to improve the scope of monitoring should be directed 
towards informing action on air pollution. A more accurate picture of air pollution in the 
county will support partners to develop interventions and monitor their impact on air quality 
more effectively. 

5.1.1 Monitoring particulate matter (PM): Gloucestershire should explore options for 
monitoring PM. There is a strong evidence base for the negative impact of 
particulate matter on health, however, in Gloucestershire we do not currently 
monitor PM. 

5.1.2 Improving the coverage of air quality monitoring: The current coverage of air 
quality monitoring in Gloucestershire should be reviewed and inform a plan to 
improve the coverage of air quality monitoring in the short, medium and longer 
term.

5.1.3 Engaging the public in monitoring: The public have a key role to play in 
contributing to the understanding of air quality and this should be considered as 
part of air quality monitoring plans for Gloucestershire.

The public have limited access to data on air quality in Gloucestershire. The data must be 
made available to the public through mediums with which they can easily engage, to support 

Page 73



12

positive behaviour change and the actions which they can take to protect themselves and 
their communities.

5.1.4 Integrating air quality data with other data sources: Opportunities to join up 
data sources to improve understanding of the relationship between air quality and 
health should be explored. This should include, but is not limited to qualitative 
data; consideration of health outcomes; healthcare activity; road traffic 
information; road safety information; policy and planning decisions; among other 
appropriate data sources identified. 

5.1.5 Digital solutions to air quality data availability: A digital solution to make air 
quality and related health data available to the public should be explored. This 
should make data available in ways which members of the public can use to 
make decisions to protect themselves, and to reduce their negative impact on air 
quality. The solution should also support private and public sector organisations 
to reduce their impact on poor air quality and to help engender positive behaviour 
change in the members of their organisation.  

5.1.6 Identify information sharing opportunities:  The public in Gloucestershire 
receive regular information through a range of well established mediums 
(weather and traffic reporting etc.). Partners who already have large captive 
audiences should be engaged on the issue of air quality and health, to identify 
opportunities to disseminate data and information to the public in more effective 
ways. 

5.2 Active Travel

Switching journeys from cars to walking, cycling and public transport not only has a large 
beneficial impact on the individual’s health, but a wider benefit to the population health as 
there are corresponding decreases in overall air pollution levels. There are also subsequent 
impacts in term of health improvement from increased activity levels. This area will be led by 
the Active Travel work stream delivery group, with support from the other work stream 
delivery groups.

Public and private sector organisations as well as the public should be communicated with to 
support their understanding and uptake of active travel. This communications plan should 
focus on actions to support behaviour change to improve the uptake of active travel. 

5.2.1 A pilot health promotion, health education, and behaviour change initiative: 
A pilot should be co-designed with target groups and build on the results of the 
public survey. The pilot should inform future plans to support behaviour change 
regarding active travel in Gloucestershire. This should be developed in 
partnership with all sub-groups to ensure a joined up approach to 
communications.

It is important that schools and workplaces are supported to develop plans which promote 
active travel options. This should include consideration of actions to promote the uptake of, 
and to remove barriers to, active travel. This work should act as a catalyst for behaviour 
change and modal shift to green travel. 

5.2.2 School travel plans: Work with schools to develop dynamic travel plans that 
support pupils, families and staff to engage in active travel to and from school. 

Page 74



13

This may include working directly with specific schools to develop their travel 
plans, or by developing a template dynamic travel plan for schools to complete. 

5.2.3 Workplace travel plans: Work with employers to develop travel plans which 
enable their staff to utilise active travel options between work locations, and 
between work and home, and onward work journeys. This may include workplace 
and health programmes to engage workplaces and support the adoption of a 
template best practice travel plan, and/or to engage specific larger employers to 
develop travel plans which promote an increase in the uptake of active travel. 
This work area should also include Universities in Gloucestershire (both students 
and staff) and work to lever the substantial expertise and drive of locally funded 
programmes such as Active Gloucestershire. 

5.3 Planning and Policy

Measures to improve air quality are highly cost-effective when integrated into the planning 
and policy process.10 Planning and policy will be critical to providing an environment which 
promotes the uptake of active travel and ULEVs as an alternative to other options. This 
should be developed in partnership across all three work stream delivery groups.

5.3.1 Development of guidance and frameworks for planners and developers: 
Guidance and frameworks should be developed with and for planners to support 
measures to improve air quality and identify and address developments which 
may worsen air quality. This should also look at how to promote investment in 
active travel and electric vehicle charging infrastructure, and be part of a joined 
up approach with other green infrastructure planning initiatives including the 
Building with Nature benchmark.11 

5.3.2 Consultation into planning and policy strategy: The Gloucestershire Air 
Quality and Health Partnership should review draft plans and actively engage in 
consultations to help shape strategies to be effective in promoting air quality 
improvement measures. Key transport and planning strategies should be 
identified, including Gloucestershire’s Vision 2050, the Local Transport Plan, the 
Industrial Strategy, and the Local Energy Strategy.

5.3.3 Identifying key infrastructure for active travel improvements: Key plans and 
interventions to improve current travel infrastructure to make it more amenable to 
active travel should be developed and prioritised. This work should be aligned 
with work on implementing the Building with Nature benchmark. Once these 
plans have been agreed for prioritisation, funding opportunities can be pursued. 

5.4 Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs)

There are a range of low emission vehicle options which includes electric vehicles. Whilst 
none of these options are completely non-polluting, switching to a low emission option when 
journeys have to be made by vehicle has the potential to substantially reduce the pollution 

10 Ibid
11 https://www.gloucestershirewildlifetrust.co.uk/what-we-do/our-work/research-and-
publications/building-nature

Page 75

https://www.gloucestershirewildlifetrust.co.uk/what-we-do/our-work/research-and-publications/building-nature
https://www.gloucestershirewildlifetrust.co.uk/what-we-do/our-work/research-and-publications/building-nature


14

caused by road traffic. This area will be led by the Electric Vehicles and Clean Fleets work 
stream delivery group, with the support of the other sub-groups.

The infrastructure supporting low emission vehicles, particularly electric vehicles in the short 
term, is not currently developed enough to make ULEVs a viable option for most individuals 
and organisations in Gloucestershire. Promoting the uptake of ULEVs thus must include 
developing the supporting infrastructure.

5.4.1 Review charging infrastructure and related business opportunities: Review 
the current electric vehicle charging infrastructure and make recommendations 
for the positioning of charging points with specific timelines for delivery. Business 
opportunities to provide charging facilities should be pursued.

5.4.2 Prioritise funding opportunities for Gloucestershire County Council’s 
electric car charging budget: Make recommendations to the Lead 
Commissioner in charge of this budget regarding investment priorities to support 
the uptake of low emission vehicles.

5.4.3 Keep up to date with evolving ULEV technology: Stay up to date with 
technological developments in low emission vehicles in order that 
Gloucestershire can future-proof its implementation. 

ULEVs, particularly electric vehicles and electric bikes, are increasingly in the public spotlight 
but many myths persist which can dissuade people from using them. Incentivising and 
promoting the uptake of ULEVs is essential to increasing their use and ensuring that 
investments in infrastructure are worthwhile. 

5.4.4 Develop a communications plan to promote the uptake of ULEVs: This may 
include events and/or campaigns and should focus on the benefits to individuals 
and organisations of adopting low emission vehicle options, including electric 
vehicles and electric bikes. This should be developed in partnership with all sub-
groups to ensure a joined up approach to communications and behaviour 
change. 

5.4.5 Identify partnerships with key employers in Gloucestershire: Identify and 
work with some key employers in Gloucestershire, supporting these workplaces 
to incorporate ULEVs into their travel plans and infrastructure.

5.4.6 Utilise parking incentives to encourage low emission vehicle uptake: 
Review the potential to promote the uptake of ULEVs through the provision of 
designated low emissions parking spaces at key strategic parking sites, including 
park and rides, offices, hospitals, town centres, and public attractions.

5.5 Cleaner Fleets and Public Transport

Public sector organisations in Gloucestershire account for a substantial proportion of 
motorised vehicle journeys, through employee commutes and work-related travel, or 
contracted services. It is important that public sector bodies lead by example in terms of 
reducing the negative impact on air quality of their operations, and the operations of services 
that they contract. The focus of this area is to identify opportunities to improve fleet vehicles 
and to encourage improvements in their contracted service providers’ fleet. This area will be 
led by the Electric Vehicles and Clean Fleets work stream delivery group, with the support of 
the other sub-groups.

Page 76



15

5.5.1 Improve standards of fleet vehicles through fleet replacement policies: 
Public sector organisations operating in Gloucestershire should be encouraged to 
review their policies on fleet vehicle replacement. They should be supported to 
review their approach to adopt plans which result in a low emission fleet. This 
should include development and sharing of best practice, and monitoring public 
sector fleet replacement policies. 

5.5.2 Improve standards of fleet vehicles through contracting arrangements: 
Public sector organisations should be encouraged to review their contracting 
arrangements to promote best practice in lowering the emissions of their 
contracted services. Sharing of good local practice should be a key element of 
this work.  

Public transport (buses and taxis/private hire) has a strong role to play in improving air 
quality in Gloucestershire. It is important that public transport operators are encouraged and 
supported to improve vehicles to the least polluting option. Given the importance of 
affordable and practical public transport to reducing transport-related emissions, careful 
consideration of viability will accompany all efforts to improve the standards of public 
transport vehicles. 

5.5.3 Utilise mechanisms to promote the adoption of low emission vehicles for all 
public transport fleet (including taxis and private hire vehicles): Local 
authorities should review their mechanisms for influencing vehicle standards in 
public transport to incentivise low emission options and disincentivize polluting 
ones. This work will need to identify a fair and manageable process to promote 
vehicle fleet upgrades within an agreed timeframe. 

As well as the specification of the vehicle, the way a person drives can reduce emissions, 
along with related benefits to fuel efficiency and road safety. Gloucestershire should review 
opportunities to introduce ‘cleaner driving’ measures in public transport, public sector fleets 
and contracting, and through influencing businesses. As a behaviour change initiative, this 
should be developed in partnership with all three sub-groups, but led by the Electric Vehicles 
and Clean Fleets work stream delivery group. 

5.5.4 Provide opportunities for training and education to promote cleaner driving: 
This should focus on promoting the adoption of smooth driving techniques, 
highlighting the fuel saved and improved air quality as an incentive. This work 
should also review the potential for employers to introduce incentives to 
employees/teams for cleaner driving.

5.5.5 Utilise smart technology for vehicles to support cleaner driving: Partners 
have already developed technology to support cleaner driving. Opportunities to 
share and promote this technology should be reviewed. 

5.5.6 Sign-up to and promote schemes for businesses which promote cleaner 
driving: There are existing programmes and certification schemes which aim to 
promote cleaner, safer and more efficient driving for businesses which 
Gloucestershire should consider promoting to private and public sector 
organisations. 

Page 77



16

6 Governance Arrangements

The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership (GAQHP) is a multi-agency group which has 
responsibility for the development and implementation of the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health 
Strategy. GAQHP is made up of stakeholders from the following organisations: Gloucestershire 
County Council Cabinet Members; Gloucestershire County Council Officers; District Environmental 
Health services; Gloucestershire Local Enterprise Partnership; Chairs of Air Quality and Health 
delivery work groups; Gloucestershire NHS Clinical Commissioning Group; Gloucestershire Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust; Gloucestershire University; Gloucestershire Rural Community Council; Stage 
Coach; schools representatives; Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust; Gloucestershire Police Constabulary; 
as well as members and organisations co-opted as required to inform or advance the strategy and 
work plans. 

The Partnership reports into the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB). The HWB will 
provide overall governance for the Strategy development and implementation. The GAQHP will 
present the draft strategy to HWB for revision and sign off. Additionally, the GAQHP will present an 
annual report to the HWB detailing progress against the strategy. The HWB may also require 
exception reporting from GAQHP should issues be identified which the Board require further 
clarification on. 

The GAQHP will coordinate the implementation of the strategy through three work stream delivery 
groups: air quality monitoring and behaviour change; active travel; and electric vehicles and clean 
fleets. The work stream delivery groups are multi-agency, multi-professional groups with responsibility 
for the development and delivery of work plans to implement the strategy. Work plans will be signed 
off by the GAQHP, and groups will report on progress to the GAQHP.

Owing to the implications for health and the environment of the strategy, both the Health Scrutiny 
Committee (HOSC) and the Environment Scrutiny Committee (ESC)  will provide overview and 
scrutiny regarding the implementation of the strategy. The Director for Public Health and the Director 
for Place from Gloucestershire Country Council will   provide annual updates to HOSC and ESC 
respectively. 

7 Evaluation and objective setting

This is a medium term strategy with a timeline for completion of between three to five years. Specific 
timed milestones will be included in the work plans of the work stream delivery groups, which will be 
agreed by the GAQHP. 

The work plans will be reviewed, approved and monitored by the GAQHP. The partnership will 
require that work plans include specific measurable objectives for delivery. The partnership will review 
progress against measureable objectives which will also be reported to the HWB. The 1st annual 
report from the GAQHP to the HWB will include a set of targets against which the delivery of the 
strategy will be measured. Included in the first report will be an evaluation framework and timeline for 
delivery. Both of these elements will be reviewed for approval by the HWB. 

8 Risks and Mitigation

The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership (GAQHP) will hold a risk register. Risks and 
mitigating actions will be agreed by the GAQHP, with exception reporting to the Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Board as part of the annual review report or by exception. 

Page 78



17

9 Funding and Finance 

This strategy will be funded through funding streams and resources already in place, and through the 
funding provided through individual organisation initiatives, or by funding applications to local or 
national funding opportunities. 

The GAQHP will review work group delivery plans to identify funding requirements, gaps in 
resources, and to agree funding priorities. It will be a core function of the GAQHP to identify and 
pursue funding opportunities to support the delivery of the subgroup work plans. Opportunities for 
funding should be pursued across organisations in the Partnership, and look to a range of sources: 
internal organisation; local funding mechanisms; and national funding mechanisms. The analysis of 
funding needs and prioritisation should be completed in the first quarter following signoff of work 
group delivery plans. 

Organisation or professional involvement through the GAQHP or the associated work stream delivery 
groups will be funded from organisations’ own staffing resources or personal finances.

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting
	8 Social Isolation deep dive
	20190501 Deep Dive Social Isolation DRAFT 2

	9 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	10 Air quality strategy
	Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy v. 4


